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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN STATEMENT
ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of
the Company, | am delighted to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (“Year”).

REVIEW

The Group was successfully listed on GEM on 12 December 2016.
The proceeds raised have strengthened the cash position of the
Group with the aim of recruiting additional professional staff to
provide services to both existing and new customers.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded a
decrease in revenue of approximately HK$14.7 million or 32.4% to
approximately HK$30.7 million compared with the previous financial
year. Such decrease was mainly due to the revenue contribution
from projects with relatively small contract sum. At the same time,
the Group incurred a gross profit margin of approximately 21.2%
in the Year compared with a gross profit margin of approximately
15.5% last year.

The Group recognised a loss of approximately HK$4.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 compared with a loss of approximately
HK$4.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The responsible Director and senior management are aware
of the regulatory reporting and compliance requirements in
the architectural industry, and will continue to keep abreast of
their development in additional to change of general business
environment.

2023/2024F [ERE HEIRBRBIEREEERAA

B LR R

AANERRARFREZG(BEFRIKR[ESE])
MAZBARBREMBRR (GHEIAEE])
HE_Z_NE=HA=+—HILFE(EXFE])
B E R o

G
AEBRZZE—AR"ETAT+=ZARGEMAK
NEH - EENHEREZEE TAEENIR
e EEBEHMEEET AMBEAET
BERERY -

BE-_Z-_NE=A=1+—HItFE Xx&£H
815 R = R £ — B 2 R 2 £914,700,000
5 JT 3.32.4% = #30,700,00058 7T © A& B8R 4
DEZAREGHNSERERNDBBENKEE
AT AR AEEREAFEHEBERNE
#/B21.2% - MEFEF AL H15.5% °

BE_Z-_ME=A=1+—BI&E KX&£H
R EE 44,900,000 MEBEE-T ==
F=A=+—HI-FEREREEH4,600,000
BT e

BENEENGAEEESANEEENE
EREREHRBT BBERBEIEBEBLIR
BECMRARESTHERRETNERIE -



CHAIRMAN STATEMENT
ERRE

OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Group will continue to actively explore new
opportunities and/or business diversification such as the new
energy industry, and also plan to extend new business geographical
coverage such as the mainland China. These strategic directions
aim to capture new business opportunities in the market and
contribute satisfactory long-term returns to our shareholders.
Such achievements depend on whether we can attract competent
professionals to join the Group.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to the Group’s shareholders, bankers,
customers and business partners for their continuous support,
and to our management and staff members for their diligence,
dedication and contribution to the growth of the Group.

Zhou Renchao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ERETRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services in
Hong Kong. During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group continued to focus on developing business opportunities
with existing customers as well as working on those referrals from
them. At the same time, the Group plans to expand the types of
architectural-related services when opportunities arise.

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$14.7 million
or 32.4% from approximately HK$45.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately HK$30.7 for the year ended 31 March
2024. The Group recorded a loss for the year ended 31 March
2024 of approximately HK$4.9 million as compared with a loss of
approximately HK$4.6 million incurred for the year ended 31 March
2023. The reasons of such changes are set out in the section
Financial Review below.

Going forward, while actively exploring new businesses
opportunities, the Group also plans to extend its business reach
and expand service coverage to lay a foundation for our long-term
development. These strategic directions aim to capture new
business opportunities in the market and contribute satisfactory
long-term returns to our shareholders. Riding on the advantageous
geographical location and the recovery momentum in both Hong
Kong and mainland China economies, the Group will not limit
its development in Hong Kong but also explore new business
opportunities in mainland China to widen the Group’s revenue base.

Despite the fact that there are improvements after the COVID-19
pandemic, the future development of the political and economic
environment still remain uncertain. The Group will continue to
seek a minimum risk exposure by bargaining better terms from
sub-contractors, minimising expenses, securing projects and
closely monitoring recoverability of the receivables to keep the
operations of the Group as usual.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERETRE

AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue is generated from the contract revenue from
provision of comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services in Hong Kong, including licensing consultancy,
alteration and addition works and minor works consultancy,
inspection and certification and other architectural related
consultancy.

The Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$30.7 million (2023: approximately HK$45.4
million), representing approximately HK$14.7 million or 32.4%
decrease compared to the financial year ended 31 March 2023.
Such decrease was mainly due to the revenue contribution from
projects with relatively small contract sum.

The gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately 21.2% (2023: gross profit margin was
approximately 15.5%). Such increase was mainly due to the revenue
contribution from projects with relatively small contract sum but
higher profit margin.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s total general and administrative expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$11.1 million
(2023: approximately HK$11.5 million), representing a decrease
of approximately HK$0.4 million or 3.5% when compared to the
corresponding period in 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to
decrease in listing compliance fees.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2024 (20283: net loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$4.6 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.3 million or 6.5%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WA

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group financed its
operations by cash flow from operating activities. As at 31 March
2024, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$6.8
million (2023: net current liabilities of approximately HK$0.7 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$4.8
million (2023: approximately HK$4.0 million). The current ratio, being
the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, was approximately
0.7 times as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately 0.9 times). The
decrease in current ratio mainly due to increase of trade and other
payables. The gearing ratio, being total debts over the equity, was
not applicable as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 1.4).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. Total
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1.0 million deficit as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$3.9 million).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total staff and Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$14.3 million (2023: approximately
HK$16.6 million). Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
staffs’ salaries. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
on the basis of performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employee and make reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Our remuneration packages comprise monthly fixed
salaries and discretionary year-end bonuses based on individual
performance, which are paid to employees as recognition of, and
reward for, their contributions.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial
institution in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and as such the exposure to
the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was
minimal. Hence, no financial instrument for hedging was employed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the
Directors in the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange was
suspended from 9:00 a.m. on 3 July 2023 at the request of the
Company. As all conditions set out in the Resumption Guidance
have been fulfilled, the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange
for the resumption of trading in the shares of the Company with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 4 June 2024 on the Stock Exchange. For
detail information please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 3 June 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
1E"ﬁ:«&$ﬁth

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 March 2024. This report highlights the key corporate
governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders
and enhance its corporate value. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code under
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”).

The Company had complied throughout the Year with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except with the following
deviation:

(1) Rules 5.05, 5.28 and 5.34 of GEM Listing
Rules

Following the resignation of Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria on 10
January 2024, the Company failed to meet the requirements
of (i) having at lease three independent non-executive
Directors on the Board under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules; (i) having a minimum of three non-executive Directors
in the Audit Committee under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules; and (i) the Remuneration Committee chaired by an
independent non-executive Director under Rule 5.34 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Liu Jianting as independent
non-executive Directors and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
on 28 February 2024, the Company has complied with the
requirements of Rules 5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
(2) Rule 31.39(1) of GEM Listing Rules
The annual report of the Company for the financial year ended
31 March 2023 was despatched to Shareholders on 19 April
2024, and the annual general meeting for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 was held on 24 May 2024, which both
more than 6 months after the end of the financial year, results
the Company failed to meet the requirements under the Rule
31.39(1) GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of
conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors
(“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all
of them confirmed they had complied with the required standard of
dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Renchao
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun
Mr. Cao Dayong

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

Mr. Liu Jianting

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” in
this report.

The updated list of Directors and their role and function are
published at the HKEXnews website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website (www.8039.com.hk).

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in order
to enhance the quality of Board’s performance and to achieve
sustainable and balanced development of the Group.
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Policy Statement

The Company believes that a balanced and diversified board
composition can provide different and relevant perspectives and
insights that facilitates the Board to discharge its duties and
responsibilities effectively.

The Company sets out a range of factors and aspects in
considering, determining and assessing the Board diversity,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service, and any other factors that the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

Measurable Objective

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board will
also consider having an appropriate proportion of directors with
direct experience of the Group’s business, with different ethnic,
professional and industry backgrounds.

Review, Monitoring and Disclosure

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy and monitoring the related implementation and
progress made towards achieving the measurable objectives from
time to time.

Our Board Diversity Policy is also published on the Company’s
website.

As of 31 March 2024, our Board has achieved a female-to-male
gender ratio of 1:5 and our Directors have collaborated different
skills and experiences individually and collectively, including but
not limited to financial and accounting, information technology and
business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board, and
with at least one of them possessing the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors, together with
the executive Directors, ensure that the Board prepares its financial
and other mandatory reports in strict compliance with the relevant
standards. The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and believes that their independence satisfies the criteria
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Board

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Group. The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. The Board is accountable to shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) for the strategic development of the Group
with the goal of maximizing long-term Shareholders’ interest, while
balancing broader stakeholder interests. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management of the Company who meet on a regular basis to
review the financial results and performance of the Group and
make financial and operational decisions for the implementation
of strategies and plans approved by the Board. The Board also
communicates with the Shareholders and regulatory bodies and
makes recommendations to the Shareholders on issues relating to
interim and final dividends.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication to determine overall strategic direction and
objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, and
other significant matters. The Board held 8 meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board meets regularly on a quarterly basis. Notice of at least
14 days is given to all Directors for a regular Board meeting. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Board also meets on other
occasions when a Board-level decision on a particular matter is
required. For such, reasonable notice is given. All Directors have full
and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”), senior management and compliance officer of the
Company who are responsible for ensuring the compliance of the
Company with the GEM Listing Rules and advising the Board on
compliance matters. Directors are also provided with access to
independent professional advice, where necessary, in carrying out
their obligations as Directors of the Company. Any Directors and
their associates who are considered to have conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed in the Board meetings shall abstain from voting on the
relevant resolutions and are not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings.
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The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection.

Relationships between the Board

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors. The biographical details of each
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Executives” of this annual report.

Directors’ Continuing Professional
Development Programme

Each Director receives comprehensive and formal induction and
orientation to ensure he/she adequately understand the operations
and business of the Group. The Company also provided detailed
director’s responsibilities and obligations statement pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules for the Director to review and study.
In addition, materials in relation to regularly update on latest
development in relation to the GEM Listing Rules, other applicable
regulatory requirements and the Group’s business and governance
policies (the “Reading Materials”) were circulated to the Directors.
Continuing briefings and seminars for the directors will be arranged
as necessary. The Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional developments to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills periodically.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated in
the continuous professional developments in the following manner:

BE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—BIEE BN
THFRZ2EFEEEERTE

Attending
seminars/
Reading courses/
Name Materials conferences
HEEHRE
" E B B AR RE g8
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zhou Renchao A% &
(appointed on 1 September 2022) (R=ZF-ZZFANHA—HEZF) v
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun EAEB LA v v
Mr. Cao Dayong BREBXAE v
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITESE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy REZL+ v v
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip REFELE v v
Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria M E 22 &
(resigned on 10 January 2024) (R=ZZFZmFE—H+HEF) v v
Mr. Liu Jianting 222 Rz ST A4
(appointed on 28 February 2024) (R=ZF-mFE=A=—+/\HEZ(F) v
APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF EENEEREE

DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(“Articles”), at each general meeting, one third of the Directors for
the time being and any Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or appointed as an addition to the Board should be
subject to election by shareholders at the following general meeting
after his appointment (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include any Director
who wishes to retire and not offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee in order to maintain
high standard of corporate governance within the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors and is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy. The other
members are Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Mr. Liu Jianting.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review the financial statements of
the Company and areas involving judgements in respect of financial
reporting; and oversee financial reporting system, internal control
procedures, risk management system and continuing connected
transactions of the Company. All members of the Audit Committee
are appointed by the Board.

The Audit Committee has met its responsibilities to review the
Group’s quarterly reports, interim report and audited annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2024 and provided advice and
comments thereon.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Year is set out as follows:

(i) recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of auditor;

reviewed with the external consultant on the risk management
and internal control systems, assessment on any potential
special risks to be encountered by the Company and review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system;

reviewed with the external auditor on the effectiveness of
audit process and the accounting principles and practices,
the accuracy and fairness of the annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024; and

(il

(iv)

reviewed the first quarterly and interim results of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31
March 2024.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established with written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises one
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors
and is chaired by Mr. Zhou Renchao. The other members are Mr.
Leung Tsun lp, Mr. Liu Jianting and Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. All
members of the Nomination Committee are appointed by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
reviewed and discussed the structure, size and composition of
the Board; made recommendation on the appointment of new
Directors and re-election of the retiring Directors; and confirmed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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NOMINATION POLICY AND PROCEDURES

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy that sets out the
principles, criteria and procedures for selecting, assessing, and/
or recommending Board candidates. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for evaluating a series of key factors, including but
not limited to the following criteria, in the process of selecting,
assessing, and/or recommending Board candidates.

(i) Skill, experience, qualifications and achievements that are
relevant and appropriate for the business operations of the
Group;

(i)  Commitments and independence;
(i) Reputation and integrity;
(iv)  The Board Diversity Policy (as mentioned above); and

(v)  any other relevant and material factors as may be considered
by the Nomination Committee.

The Board has also established nomination procedures summarized
as follows:

(@) Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee must evaluate the proposed
candidate based on the selection criteria mentioned
above and make recommendations to the Board regarding
whether the proposed candidates are fit and proper for the
directorship appointment.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at the general meeting according to the
Articles of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution, participation and performance
of the retiring Director and the Board should then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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The Company will send out a circular to shareholders
providing information of the candidates nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting. The
information provided includes but not limited to the names,
brief biographies, independence, proposed remuneration and
any other material information of the proposed candidates.

(c) Proposal by Shareholders

For candidates proposed by shareholders who serve a notice
to the Company Secretary, the Nomination Committee should
also evaluate such candidates in accordance to the same
selection criteria and make recommendation to the Board. The
Company will send a supplementary circular to shareholders
providing the particulars of the proposed candidates.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established with written
terms of reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the
CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors
and is chaired by Mr. Liu Jianting. The other members are Mr. Zhou
Renchao, Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy and Mr. Leung Tsun Ip.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of our
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and made recommendation on the
remuneration package of Directors and senior management of the
Group and assessed the performance of executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the
Board and its respective committees during the year ended 31
March 2024 are as follows:

E%ﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬁ
BE-T-NMF=A=+—BLFE EER
E%Q&X§EQQ%Zﬁf#%mT:

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENZER REZEE ¥HzEg

Espg Ezgen g3 S gi REAE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Zhou Renchao ACBEE 5/5 - - - -
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun EEME 5/5 = = = =
Mr. Cao Dayong BABRE 4/5 = = = =
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTESE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy R2Z ot 5/5 33 11 11 -
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip PRETE 5/5 3/3 11 11 =
Mr. Liu Jianting £ i[% 3

(appointed on 28 February 2024) (R-E-REZF=1/|HEEF) = = = = =
Ms. Lam Yuen Man, Maria Wﬁ?ﬁi

(resigned on 10 January 2024) (R=F-PE—FTAHFL) 3/3 3/3 = = =
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EERBAE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties in accordance with code provision D.3.1 to the CG Code
which included to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management of the Company, the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITOR AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, remuneration paid and payable
to the auditor of the Group (the “Auditor”) are approximately
HK$550,000 (2023: HK$550,000) for audit services. There was no
significant non-audit service provided by the auditor of the Group
for the year.

Director’s Acknowledgement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 is set out in the section “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
report.

Financial Reporting

The Management has provided to all Directors quarterly updates
with quarterly consolidated financial statement of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details during the
regular Board meetings. In addition, the Management has provided
all members of the Board, in a timely manner, updates on any
material changes to the performance, position and prospects of the
Company and sufficient information for matters brought before the
Board. The Management will spare no effort to provide all members
of the Board with more detailed and promptly monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the issuer’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail in coming
future.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department and
engaged an external internal control consultant to conduct review
on the internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024. The review identified the findings in internal control
system of the Company, the risks associated with operating units
of the Company and the recommendations to rectify the findings in
internal control systems and to lower the risks identified.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Control Systems in respect of financial,
operational and compliance aspect annually and considers that the
Control Systems are adequate and effective.

The Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience and training programmes of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and consider
that they are adequate.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

The Group recognises that sound and effective risk management
is essential for the long-term and sustainable growth of a business.
The Board places particular emphasis on determining the
risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of a sound and effective internal control system
underpinning the risk management framework. While taking into
full account of the new requirements effective from 1 January 2016
under the Listing Rules brought by the Stock Exchange relating
to risk management and internal control, the management also
learns from the experience of outstanding companies and takes
into consideration of the Company’s unique business and operating
environment in formulating the risk management and control
framework. All employees are committed to continually enhancing
the risk management framework, linking to its corporate strategies
as well as integrating it into day-to-day operation.
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Risk Identification and Risk Management
Approach

The Board put in place adequate measures to perform the IA
function at different aspects of the Group as the Company
considers that the close and regular supervision by the EDs and
senior management of the Group and the maintenance of internal
control guidance and procedures on the Group’s critical operational
cycles could provide sufficient and effective internal control and risk
management functions to safeguard the Group’s assets.

There are also regular meetings held between the Directors and
senior management to review and monitor the business and
financial performance, the efficiency in the use of the Group’s
resources in comparison to the budgets, and the operational
matters to ensure the Group has complied with the regulations
that have material impact to the Group’s business. The aim is to
enhance the communication and accountability of the Directors
and senior management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
and properly identified and dealt with in a proper manner, while
significant issues are reported to the Board for their attention. The
Company also regularly compiles reports to the Board to update the
latest financial performance, position and prospects of the Group.

° Risk ranking process and assign risk owners

Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood
and impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the
management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify
the responsible risk owners. The management is responsible
for this function of the Group.

° Risk acceptance and evaluation

Risk acceptance is a formal decision to accept a risk. In this
step, the management should analyse the measures that put
in the risk response table based on risk priorities. Starting
point is the risk priority number as calculated from probability
and severity and the risk threshold as defined for the risk
assessment process.

° Risk mitigation and ongoing monitoring plan

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been
made and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should
be formulated.
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Based on the risk identification and risk evaluation, the Company
will manage the risks as follows:

Strategic Risks

Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’
expectation, risk of over concentration of customer bases and
risk of failure to maintain a competitive edge in terms of industry
innovation and process improvement

The Group will continue to diversify its customer bases and maintain
its competitiveness by providing training on latest development in
industry innovation and operation.

Operational Risks

Insufficient trainings to employees, loss of business opportunity,
risk of information leakage, concentration of decision maker, decline
in experienced staff, risk of failure to complete work before deadline
and increase in operating costs.

The Group continues to provide competitive remuneration package
to maintain its professional team and looks for opportunity to
recruit suitable calibre to join the Group to capture more business
opportunities.

Financial Risks

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate
risk

The management will closely monitor the credit risk and liquidity
risk attributable to the Group’s major financial instruments should
there be any significant exposure arose in the future.

The Group conducts its business mainly in Hong Kong dollar and
thus does not have exposure to foreign currency risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk relates primarily to its interest-bearing
other borrowings subject to review on expiry/renewal date. The
Group does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.
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Compliance Risks

Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and
environment and risk of legal disputes.

The Group has a code of conduct in place for compliance with
relevant ordinances by its staff.

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation from
the management on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit
Committee and the Board, upon reviewing the said systems,
were not aware of any significant issues that would have an
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s
operational, financial and compliance areas of the systems.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun joined the Group as the Executive Director and
the Company Secretary since 28 December 2020. The biographical
details of the Company Secretary are set out under the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” of this
annual report. In accordance with the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rule, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location which will be the Principal Meting
Place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for the Shareholders to put their
enquiries to the board

The Company endeavors to maintain two way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries about the Group by mail to
the principle address of the Company. All the enquiries are dealt
with in a timely manner. The Shareholders are also encouraged
to attend annual general meeting (the “AGM”) and EGM of the
Company and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices
are duly being circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure
each Shareholder is informed to attend the AGM and the EGM.
The Chairman of the Board, chairmen of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit Committee and the
senior management attend the aforesaid meetings and respond
proactively to the Shareholders’ enquiries. The detailed procedures
for conducting a poll are set out in the notices of such meetings.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established and its Directors are aware of the
procedures and internal controls for the defining, safeguarding,
handling and dissemination of inside information under the
obligations and requirement of Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571) (the “SFO”) Part XIVA. The key provisions include, but
not limited to:

il All Directors, senior management and relevant employees are
required to report potential inside information, upon identified,
to the executive Directors and/or Company Secretary as an
official channel for informing all members of the Board;

2. The executive Directors are required to assess whether the
attributes of the potential inside information and relevant
impact on the price of the Company’s securities;

Bh All Directors, senior management and relevant employees
are required take reasonable due care for safeguard the
confidentiality of unpublished inside information;

4. All Directors, senior management and relevant employees
are constantly reminded not to deal in the Company’s
securities when they are in possession of unpublished inside
information.

58 All Directors are empowered and required to ensure timely,
fair and comprehensive dissemination of inside information,
including issuing announcements and/or requesting trading
halt in situation of unexpected and significant event.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public.

The Company strengthens its communications with shareholders
and investors through various channels including publication of
interim and annual reports, press releases and announcements
regarding the latest developments of the Company in its corporate
website at www.8039.com.hk in a timely manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company its Articles.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to the
Company’s Articles and relevant rules and regulations, including the
relevant GEM Listing Rules.

Our dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is intended to set
forth the principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of the Company’s profits as dividend to the

Shareholders.

In determining a proposed dividend and dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

1. the general market conditions;
2. the financial performance of the Group;
S8 the liquidity position of the Group;

4. the working capital requirements and future development
plans of the Group;

B the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

6. any commercial and/or contractual restrictions imposed on
the Group by relevant stakeholders;

7. the statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is
subject to; and

8. any other relevant factors that the Board may deem
appropriate.
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Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Board may decide dividends
are to be paid in cash, or wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares, or by issuance of bonus shares on a basis permitted by the
applicable laws and regulations.

The payment of dividend by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles.

Final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at AGM and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may
not declare dividend in consideration of various factors, such as
reserving sufficient capital for future development.

The Board may from time to time pay the Shareholders such
interim and/or special dividends as it considers to be justified by
the profits and/or assets level of the Group. There is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any specific
period.

The Board will from time to time review the Dividend Policy and may
exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems fit
and necessary.

This Dividend Policy is published on the Company’s website for
investors’ information.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Renchao, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
director and the Chairman on 1 September 2022. He is also
the Chairman of nomination committee as well as a member of
remuneration committee. Mr. Zhou graduated from the University
of Electronic Science and Technology of China in 2005 with a
bachelor’s degree in Computer Networking. Mr. Zhou has more than
15 years of experience in enterprise management and technology
industries.

In July 2019, Mr. Zhou co-founded Come Ride Internet Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., and in September 2018, Mr. Zhou co-founded
Avanti Blockchain Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. to undertake
the development of computer software, blockchain technology and
new energy battery technology business. Mr. Zhou co-founded
Yunnan Guanke Information Technology Co., Ltd. from 2008 to
2018 to undertake the development and application of computer
software and hardware business. Mr. Zhou joined Chengdu Avanti
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Avanti”) in 2006. In October 2008,
Mr. Zhou acquired majority interest in Chengdu Avanti to undertake
the development of computer software, and computer system
services business.

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, aged 63, was appointed as an executive
director on 28 December 2020. He is also company secretary and
authorised representative of the Company as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 30 years’
management experience at board level in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chung is currently (i) an executive director, company secretary,
authorized representative and consultant of Elegance Optical
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 907); and (ii) the
company secretary of QPL International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 243).

Mr. Chung is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an
ICAEW Business and Finance Professional.

During the past 3 years, Mr. Chung was the company secretary
and authorized representative from 17 March 2017 to 9 March 2023
and 18 December 2023 to 19 March 2024 of King International
Investment Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare Group
Limited) (Stock Code: 928), and (i) independent non-executive
director from 8 March 2021 to 19 April 2021; and (i) executive
director from 19 April 2021 to 9 August 2021 of CT Environmental
Group Limited (previous Stock Code: 1363, prior to delisting from
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Cao Dayong, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director, compliance officer and authorised representative of the
Company on 20 January 2022. Mr. Cao graduated from University
of Electronic Science and Technology of China in 2009 with a
Master Degree of Engineering in Software Engineering. Mr. Cao has
more than 10 years software engineering and electronic technology
experience.

Mr. Cao founded Sichuan Alphatheta Technology Co., Ltd in 2020
as a director and legal representative. Mr. Cao was a hardware
engineer of Sichuan Zhongdian Kunchen Technology Co., Ltd from
2016 to 2017, a R&D engineer of Huawei digital technologies (Cheng
du) Co., Ltd. from 2012 to 2014, and a R&D engineer of Chengdu
Huawei Symantec Technology Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 29 August 2019. She is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lai, has over 20 years of auditing, accounting and
financial management experience.

Ms. Lai is currently an independent non-executive director of
KPa-BM Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 2663). She was (i) an executive
director of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
(Stock Code: 8366) from 19 July 2021 to 15 March 2024; (i) a
independent non-executive director of CT Environmental Group
Limited (previous Stock Code: 1363, prior to delisting from the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) from 3 August 2020 to 9 August
2021; and (iii) a non-executive director of Larry Jewelry International
Company Limited (previous Stock Code: 8351, prior to delisting
from GEM of the Stock Exchange) from 26 February 2020 to 30
November 2021.

Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business administration from
the University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in June 2010.
She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERERITHRAEZERE

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
nonexecutive Director on 1 October 2022. He is also a member
of nomination committee, audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Leung has more than 16 years of
experience in finance and asset management.

Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of
Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (Stock code:
8366).

Mr. Leung received his Bachelor of Science in Risk Management
and his Master of Philosophy in Systems Engineering and
Engineering Management from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a certified Financial Risk Manager (FRM), a
certified Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst (CESGAR),
an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGl) in
the United Kingdom.

Mr. Liu Jianting, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 February 2024. He is also the
Chairman of remuneration committee as well as a member of audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Liu
graduated from Beijing Jiaotong University with a major in Tourism
English in July 2021. Mr. Liu is currently holding senior carbon
emissions manager and Level 3 health manager qualification in
China, with rich experience in financial investment, marketing
management and team building.

Mr. Liu is currently a major shareholder and a director of a Hong
Kong private limited company China Peak Energy Co., Limited. Mr.
Liu served as the general manager of Yunnan Pingyuan Trading
Co., Ltd. from June 2020 to September 2023, and as the general
manager of Shenzhen Huaying Investment Management Co., Ltd.
from June 2014 to March 2020 in China.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 July 2015 under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and acts as an investment holding
company. Under a group reorganisation to rationalise the structure
of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Company has become the
ultimate holding company of the Group on 21 September 2015. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its
principal place of business is Unit 2202, 22/F., Causeway Bay Plaza
I, 489 Hennessy Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange since 12 December 2016.

The change of English name of the Company from “KNK Holdings
Limited” to “China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited”, and the
change of dual foreign name of the Company in Chinese from “#
Bl sREIBRIERARAA” to “REIZRBEHFEREEER A"
and the proposed amendments to the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company and the adoption of the amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association, were
passed by special resolutions at the AGM held on 30 September
2022, and take effect on 3 October 2022. For details, please refer
to the circular of the Company dated 31 August 2022, and the
announcements of the Company dated 30 September 2022 and 26
October 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

Review of the Group’s Business and
Performance

Details of the review of the Group’s business (including an analysis
using key financial performance indicators) and the possible future
development of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on it.

Environmental Policies and Performance

While the direct impact of the Group’s business to the environment
is minimal due to the nature of our business, we are committed
to providing architectural consultancy services in a manner that
minimises potential adverse impact on the environment. To achieve
this aim, we have adopted a set of environmental protection policies
including but not limited to shutting down lights and various office
electronic equipment when not in use and reducing the paper
consumption.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

As developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success,
the Group not only provides competitive remuneration packages
and opportunities for career advancement, but also gives support
in different areas to its employees. During the Year, there were no
significant disputes between the Group and its employees.

In addition, the Group also kept maintaining a long-term healthy
relationships with its major customers and subcontractors by
keeping engaging new projects from them and engaging them on
projects that need their participations.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the state
of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements from pages 57 to 131 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the Year (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five years is set out in the section headed
“Financial Summary” on page 132 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in note 22(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 22(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, there is no reserve available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company (2023: Nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of principal subsidiaries together with their places of
operations and incorporation and particulars of their issued share
capital are out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2024 and up to the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Renchao (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun
Mr. Cao Dayong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
Ms. Lam Yuen Man Maria (resigned on 10 January 2024)
Mr. Liu Jianting
(appointed on 28 February 2024)
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In accordance with the Articles of the Company, Mr. Zhou Renchao
and Mr. Cao Dayong will retire as Directors by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of Directors are set out from pages 30 to
32 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed for a
fixed term of three years under a letter of appointment issued by
our Company. Their appointment is renewable at each general
meeting in which she is standing for re-election and is subject to
(i) the rotation, removal, vacation or termination of her office as a
Director or disqualification to act as a Director as set out in the
applicable laws, the Articles of the Company and the GEM Listing
Rules; and (ii) the terms of the letter of appointment.

There have been no service contracts entered into by the Company
with any of the Directors which contain an unexpired period which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus and the related
party transactions as set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or entities connected with any of
them has or had any material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during, or at the end of, the year ended 31
March 2024.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, there were no arrangements
subsisting during, or at the end of, the year ended 31 March
2024 to which the Company, its subsidiary(ies), its controlling
shareholder(s), or the subsidiary(ies) of its controlling shareholder(s)
is a party and whose objects were, or one of whose objects was,
to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the term loan as set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements, there were no contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
the controlling Shareholders of the Company subsisting during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not make any
donation (2023: Nil).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the
benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance when the Directors’ Report prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391 of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The
Directors may also receive options to be granted under a share
option scheme. The Company has conditionally adopted a share
option scheme. The details of the share option scheme are set out
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.01
each in the Company (“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuer set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were
as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interests share held capital
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(Note 3) (Note 2)
(K7 7%3) (K1 7#2)
New Energy Business Cluster Company Beneficial owner
Limited (Note) 265,865,000 53.93%
New Energy Business Cluster Company EmEE A
Limited (47 3%)
Mr. Zhou Renchao (“Mr. Zhou”) (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 265,865,000 53.93%

BEBxE(REEDH ZL) XEHEEES

Note:

Mr. Zhou owns 100% equity interest of New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited, which is interested in 265,865,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 53.93% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN SECURITIES

So far as is known to the Directors and the Chief Executives, as at
31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the persons or
corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives) in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share
Name Capacity/Nature of interests share capital held
LR
ERITROZ
HE LB B Rkl R4 B BABD
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(K1 7%2) (K1 7#3)
New Energy Business Cluster Company Beneficial owner
Limited (Note) 265,865,000 53.93%
New Energy Business Cluster Company EmEAE A
Limited (47 7%)
Mr. Zhou Renchao (“Mr. Zhou”) (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 265,865,000 53.93%

BEBxE(REEDH L) XEGEEES

Note:

Mr. Zhou owns 100% equity interest of New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited, which is interested in 265,865,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 53.93% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there was no
person or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) who had any interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, there
was no other person who had interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares that is discloseable under Chapter
18 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “interests and
short positions of the directors and chief executives in securities”
and “share option scheme” in this report, at no time during year
ended 31 March 2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2024 had the Directors and the Chief Executives (including
their spouses and children under 18 years of age) held any interest
in, or been granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe for the
shares (or warrants or debentures, if applicable) of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND SIMILAR RIGHTS
No convertible securities, options, warrants and similar rights were

issued or granted by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to any employee, adviser, consultant, agent,
contractors, client, supplier, customer and/or such other person,
who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed or may
contribute to our Group (the “Eligible Participant”). The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 21
November 2016 which has become effective since 12 December
2016 (the “Effective Date”) whereby the Board are authorised, at
their absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
to grant options to subscribe for the shares of the Company to
the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from the Effective Date.
Terms used below shall have the same meaning as those defined
in the section “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the
Prospectus.

An offer of the grant of option(s) shall be made to an Eligible
Participant by letter in such form as the Board may from time to
time determine requiring the Eligible Participant to undertake to
hold the Option on the terms on which it is to be granted and to be
bound by the provisions of the Scheme and shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Participant concerned until 5:00 p.m. on
the 20th business days following the Offer Date provided that no
such offer shall be open for acceptance after the Scheme Period or
after the Scheme has been terminated.

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
when the duplicate of the offer letter as referred to above
comprising acceptance of the Option duly signed by the Grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00
or any other amount as determined by the Board by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company
within the period open for acceptance referred to above. Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

The subscription price for the shares subject to Options will be a
price determined by the Board and notified to each participant and
shall be the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of
the grant of option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant of option; and (iii) the nominal value of
a share.
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As at the date of this report, the maximum number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 41,800,000 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Scheme.

The Company may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the
shareholders’ approval and issue of a circular in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes
of the Company does not exceed 30% of the shares in issue at the
time of refreshment. An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each Eligible Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
offer of the grant of option shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue for the time being. Any further grant of options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholder’s approval in general
meeting.

As at the date of this report and since the adoption of the Scheme,
no share option has been granted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and
five individuals of the Group with highest emoluments are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, the controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group and none of them had or may have any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company did not enter
into any connected transactions which required reporting, annual
review, announcements and/or independent shareholders’ approval
under the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was 2 customer with
revenue contribution approximately 37.4% of the total revenue of the
Group.

As far as the Directors aware, neither the Director nor their
associates nor any shareholder (which to the knowledge of Directors
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in that customer of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate revenue to the
top five customers of the Group accounted for approximately 52%
(2023: 63%) of the Group’s total revenue.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business activities, the Group has
no supplier.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Save as disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2024, the Group had no bank
borrowing and no borrowings from independent third parties which
is repayable within one year.
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CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial
institution in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and thus the exposure to the
risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was minimal.
Hence, no financial instrument for hedging was employed.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date
hereof.

LITIGATIONS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
13 July 2020, 21 July 2020, 31 August 2020 and 8 October 2020 in
relation to, amongst others, the Alleged Bond and the Alleged Debt.
The Company received the statement of claim in relation to the
Writ on 8 December 2020 in which the Plaintiff claimed against the
Company, inter alia, HK$5,830,000 being the principal and interest
of the Alleged Debt. The Company is contesting the claim in the
legal proceedings. The Plaintiff and the Company have exchanged
their respective witness statements, Mediation took place but was
unsuccessful. Case Management Summons hearing is scheduled in
15 October 2024.

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated
31 August 2020 in relation to the claim against three ex-directors,
namely Mr. Sun Xiao Li, Mr. Gu Jintai and Ms. Shi Lijie for breach
of fiduciary duties. The writ was lodged at the Hong Kong Judiciary
on 9 November 2020 for service out of jurisdiction through the PRC
Judiciary on them at their last known PRC addresses. As advised
by the legal advisers of the Company in respect of this litigation in
June 2021, service of the writ to them through the PRC Judiciary
was unsuccessful. The Company is considering the legal adviser’s
advice on application for substituted service of the writ to them and
has to locate their address first. However, there is no progress in
locating the whereabout of them as at the date of this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of
them are independent.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange was
suspended from 9:00 a.m. on 3 July 2023 at the request of the
Company. As all conditions set out in the Resumption Guidance
have been fulfilled, the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange
for the resumption of trading in the shares of the Company with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 4 June 2024 on the Stock Exchange. For
detail information please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 3 June 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to promoting high standards of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of the
Group and for safeguarding the shareholders’ interests and the
Group’s assets.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
CG Code save for the deviations set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Practices” in this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Mazars CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 7 May
2021, and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA”),
Certified Public Accountants, was appointed as auditor of the
Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 7 May 2021.

ZHONGHUI ANDA resigned as auditor of the Company on 16 June
2023, and McMillian Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillian
Woods”), Certified Public Accountants, was appointed as auditor of
the Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 16 June 2023.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2024 AGM to re-appoint
McMillian Woods as auditor of the Company.
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THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

Other Borrowings

The management of the Company (the “Management”) has
considered the auditors’ rationale and understood their
consideration in arriving at the qualified opinion on other
borrowings. The Company has discussed with the auditors
that the qualification on other borrowings will only be
removed when the Company is able to provide all the relevant
documents related to other borrowings that can satisfy
the existence, rights, obligation and completeness of other
borrowings or pertaining to the court judgement related to the
present litigation on other borrowings to be provided to them
or reach a settlement with the purported creditor on other
borrowings.

The Management will continue to take all possible steps and
efforts in order to retrieve all necessary information especially
the receipt record in relation to other borrowings. At the
same time, the Company is contesting the litigation on other
borrowings by engaging lawyers and counsel on behalf of the
Company. The plaintiff and the Company have exchanged
their respective witness statements, Mediation took place but
was unsuccessful. Case Management Summons hearing is
scheduled in 15 October 2024.

Valuation of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”)

The Company will continue to negotiate with the controlling
shareholder of the investee, Kin On, to explore all feasible
solutions to address auditors’ concern in order to remove this
qualification.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE QUALIFIED
OPINIONS

Members of the Audit Committee have critically reviewed the basis
for qualified opinions, the Management’s position and actions taken
by the Management for addressing the basis for qualified opinions.
The Audit Committee agreed with the Management’s position and
requested the Management to use its best endeavors to resolve the
qualified opinions.
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PLAN TO ADDRESS QUALIFIED OPINIONS

In order to address the qualified opinions, the Company will discuss
proactively with the auditors the measures to be taken by the
Company to resolve the qualified opinions on other borrowings and
valuation of financial assets at FVTOCI.

In relate to the other borrowings qualification, according to the
Company’s lawyer, it is unlikely the trial will be heard before 2025,
judgment will usually be handed down within 6 months after the
conclusion of the hearing. The management will use their best
endeavours to defend the court case, utilising all appropriate legal
strategies to achieve a favourable outcome.

In relate to the valuation of financial assets at FVTOCI, the
Management had request the Kin On’s controlling shareholder
to repay the loan, which would eliminate the need to assess its
recoverability. At the same time, the Management also actively
identifying potential buyer in order to dispose the Group’s remaining
interest in Kin On.

The qualified opinions may become unnecessary when other
borrowings and valuation of financial assets at FVTOCI no longer

have any effect on the profit and loss account of the Company in
the coming year(s).

On behalf of the board

Zhou Renchao
Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R GRS

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA COME RIDE NEW ENERGY
GROUP LIMITED

FERERFEREEERAA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 57 to 131, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

1.

Scope limitation on other borrowings

As further detailed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had other borrowings of approximately
HK$5.5 million (“5.5 million Borrowing”) and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2023 and 2024, that were drawn down by certain
former directors (“Former Directors”) through a subsidiary
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020. As
represented by the management of the Company, due to a
loss of contact with the Former Directors who resigned or
were removed from the board of directors, the management
of the Company was unable to provide us with sufficient
information and explanations to ascertain the completeness,
existence, accuracy, rights and obligations of the 5.5 million
Borrowings as at 31 March 2023 and 2024. There were no
alternative audit procedures that we could adopt to satisfy
ourselves the reliability of management’s representation and
whether the 5.5 million Borrowing and any accrued interest
thereon was fairly stated as at 31 March 2023 and 2024.

A qualified opinion on the same matter was also expressed in
the auditor’s report dated 18 April 2024 in respect of the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (the “2023 Financial Statements”).

Scope limitation on the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group invested in unlisted equity securities,
being 9.68% equity interest in an investee company, Kin On
Engineering (International) Limited (“Kin On”) (the “Investment”)
and accounted for the Investment as financial assets at
FVTOCI with fair value of approximately HK$4,424,000 as at
31 March 2023 and 2024. As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the
fair value assessments of the Investment had been conducted
by the management of the Company using an adjusted net
assets value approach. The measurement of fair value of
the Investment was mainly based on the audited financial
statements of Kin On for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2024 issued by another auditor. However, in the absence of
appropriate audit evidence due to (i) our inability to perform
audit work on the financial statement of Kin On, in particular
the recoverability of the loan to a shareholder as shown as the
major assets on the statement of financial position of Kin On
as at 31 March 2023 and 2024; and (ii) the appropriateness
of 5% adopted by the management for discount of lack of
marketability, in assessing the fair value of the Investment
we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair
value of the Investment of approximately HK$4,424,000 as at
31 March 2023 and 2024 were fairly stated. There were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
determine whether any adjustments to the fair value of the
Investment as at 31 March 2023 and 2024 were necessary.

RESRZEE

1.

H th & 5 2z EEE PR F

BN AR A B RS W R W FE20# — & R
- B S B A E & X 495,500,000
7% 70 (5,500,000 efE 7)) TN &
EER_F f¢&_7_m¢
=t+t—H8% W%#ﬁ%¢ﬂ
é%ﬁmé%
REBEE_T_F

o IRIE

+
+

HM%%H»H
B
S

a:r
A X
oy -
=

uﬂ};mﬁﬁ
Jn

A

Z

X
7 |11 0

il
]
oj|
|
- I

X}

5

o
=
o
T
35
H.\
5 3,
el =4
R My

N

e

A I
2
il
e
8]
i 6L Bl g - D>
=4

m
]

| T E B

|
(u}

|1,
ok
=

|
|
|11
%:H
%M
o oI ) 2 I vy I3

—*Ilé?

I%;@%E :

mWﬁﬂ°3

5,600, OOO/
W AR %
%@&FM@
EHERR=ZZTZ :
_‘f‘ F5,500,000;
AAERERFIE

|11
W
St |11 52 M8 i

:llﬂ:(-/:]jj i

H
& I8 Bt
s

A

o

E‘ ”, ’
M o 2| & i m 3 N1

S 3 O
= E

m

[1]

—
m

|| I e A
[k

sy A o B
S| 1] oy

ANl

5 BrS
KD
X
¥
1]
>
S

% B 3
gmm
af
S m

16Ff
mihtmkﬂxuﬁ
AlEZTEER) EH
968°oﬂx$f?£(ﬁ%xéfj)

a %
SRR

= 10 3% o 3 -

5 W 3

F
e A XA
Al
»H
-
EE
20 R
>
):m
&1
W+ -
@I

4 754,424,000 JT 2

=

TROME || SRR RS || o
o [ o R A

I
T
i |
0
S o g
R I v
m “
N
D

e

ng

N
|| BH

my —+ S 1 m | 1]
° Tt | o ﬁ.ﬁ«[:q

gﬂﬁn

v g

AERAEEE

\
L

SRR 11> D 55 | 1R 5 oA

=y
&

XE; /g
By 4 Bt T 30 Y

| i 30
-
ONVE | B D
| B 5% IO H HY

2

N[ 1] oF 2 B
B Z B

s EES
D SR o [ 1] Hm S
DHFE || N8

—

— g4
%#&ﬁ%m%ﬁ;
RIENERZAIKE
ﬁ&&ﬁm I {E B
ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%é
&E% fo

=FR=

- {E 494,424, oooﬁé
N7 4% B £R 4% B B fth
ANETREAEVLE

—EoE=

|15 59 i A
fi

all
ﬂ
F
MHE"_*
|1 H

—+ o s =
IS AR 25
=t
[

I o Sk B | oF
111 i B e 11 IR
Z
Ty

hy

\
L

HE T} 10
Bl 2
%ﬂ

il
NH

ﬁ
i

25 M g
m B8 S50
/tgl.’an}@
NRE3=:

N

+

my 2
g
| 1B |
o D
|| 6 oY &
ﬂiﬁﬁH

F

AN

A

| 535 3 5 oo 23 3

o BE s ol Y N T
~m%MDM%

R > (U |11 gp B 5

jni|
N
w
-
¥
-
B
i

2023/2024 EHE HFEIREBRHEREEAERAHE 49



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R GRS

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

2. Scope limitation on the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
(Continued)

A qualified opinion on the same matter was also expressed in
the auditor’s report dated 18 April 2024 in respect of the audit
of the 2023 Financial Statements.

Any adjustments found to be necessary might have consequential
effects on the net assets and net liabilities of the Group as at 31
March 2023 and 2024 respectively, the financial performance of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$4,852,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 and, as at 31
March 2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$6,750,000 and HK$988,000 respectively. Based
on the current liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have
financial uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends upon the successful implementation
of the directors’ plans and measures and the Group’s ability to
generate sufficient cash flows to meet its obligations as set forth in
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not
further modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion and
Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern sections, we have
determined (i) impairment of trade receivables; and (ii) revenue
recognition for construction contracts to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R CE: e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 3, critical judgements
and accounting estimates in note 5, its relevant disclosures in note
16 and financial risks management objectives and policies in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment
by estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL’) under requirements of
HKFRS 9. This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of trade receivables of approximately HK$9,831,000
as at 31 March 2024 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— obtaining an understanding of the key control relating to the
impairment assessment adopted by the Group;

— Inspecting settlements after the financial year end relating to
the trade receivables as at 31 March 2024;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models by
examining the model input used by management to form such
judgements, including testing the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions
variables and assumptions used in each of the economic
scenarios and their probability weightings and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias when
recognising impairment losses;

— Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the calculation of ECL, the accuracy of the
calculations in the model and the market data being adopted
on a sample basis; and

—  Assessing the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s credit risk exposure.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R GRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Revenue recognition for construction contracts

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 3, critical judgements
and accounting estimates in note 5 and its relevant disclosures in
note 6. The Group recognised revenue from construction contracts
amounting to approximately HK$30,674,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024.

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time using the
input method based on direct measurements of the contract costs
incurred to value the contract work performed.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Obtaining an understanding of the key control relating to the
revenue recognition adopted by the Group;

—  Performing a retrospective assessment of the reliability of the
management’s estimation of total contract costs incurred for
completed contracts made;

—  Obtaining an understanding of the performance and status of
all major contracts through discussion with management and
key staff;

—  Performing substantive testing on costs incurred to date;

—  Discussing and understanding management’s estimates
for total contract costs and forecast costs, and assessing
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
factors;

— Comparing the reported percentage of completion for
contracts to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date,
relative to the total estimated contracts costs; and

— Assessing, on sample basis, whether contract revenue
recognised in relation to variation orders met the applicable
criteria in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract with Customers”.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R CE: e

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence from points 1 to 2. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude
whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R GRS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

R CE: e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee of the Company with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats of related safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R GRS

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee of
the Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO6633

24/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEBEaREAEEKER

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FHET FAET
Revenue Iy 2= 6 30,674 45,369
Cost of services rendered Fr 12 £ AR 755 B AR (24,175) (38,320)
Gross profit EXl 6,499 7,049
Other income H g A 7 293 924
Administrative expenses TR % (11,078) (11,531)
Finance costs & KA 8 (131) (28)
Impairment losses on trade receivables & 5 & Uk 3% 18 & (8 & 12 (491) (664)
Reversal of impairment losses/ EHEBEREREEBRERD
(impairment losses) on contract assets ~ CR{EE18) 21 (21)
Loss before tax B Bt A 5 18 8 (4,887) (4,271)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®iiEe, (Ax) 10 35 (373)
Loss and total comprehensive loss AAFEEAEGREE
for the year attributable to owners BEREZHERAE
of the Company (4,852) (4,644)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted EARKREE 11 HK(0.98) cents HK(0.94) cents

&1L

Al
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SEPBIRR R

At 31 March 2024 R=F—pJF=H=+—H

2024 2023
—ZE-mF T =F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FHET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB REE 13 662 =
Right-of-use assets FERHEEE 14 856 173
Equity investment at FVTOCI BEATEGFAEMEZE 15
stz RERE 4,424 4,424
5,942 4,597
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 N B e IR A K 16
contract assets EHNEE 10,467 7,984
Tax recoverable G =R - 344
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIR 4,838 3,958
15,305 12,286
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk HMERMNFKIE 18 13,968 7,339
Term loan EHER 19 1,892 =
Other borrowings H fib &5 20 5,500 5,500
Lease liabilities HEGE 21 695 180
22,055 13,019
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (6,750) (733)
Total asset less current liabilities EEHERARBARE (808) 3,864
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SePBIRR R

At 31 March 2024 R=F =9 =H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FET
Non-current liabilities kREBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 180 =
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (B EBEFE (988) 3,864
Capital and reserves EARRGE
Share capital A% < 22(a) 4,930 4,930
Reserves & (5,918) (1,066)
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/ (BARE4) Em B
TOTAL EQUITY (988) 3,864

These consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 131 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

FEOTEBIANZEGAMBERRERN-F
THERASTN\BRESTS L ARET

June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: WHATEERKRZE:
Director Director
EE EE
Zhou Renchao Chung Yuk Lun
A & BB
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GLERBBERR

At 31 March 2024 R=F—pJF=H=+—H

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREBAEY
Fair value
Issued Share Other reserve (non- Accumulated
capital premium reserves recycling) losses  Total equity
DYERE
(FABA
BRITRA BRHEE Hitt B#) 2HER BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Note 22(b)() ~ Note 22(b)(i) ~ Note 22(b)(iii)
P 2 22(0) ) firsE22b)i) P 55 22(b)ii)
At 1 April 2022 R=ZZ--—FMA—H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (44,740) 8,508
Loss and total comprehensive £E BB R 2 HEE B
loss for the year ok - - - - (4,644) (4,644)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=4=A=+-H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (49,384) 3,864
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=fWMA—-H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (49,384) 3,864
Loss and total FEFERZ2ERA
comprehensive loss aeg
for the year - - - - (4,852) (4,852)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=A=1+-H 4,930 43,081 5,000 237 (54,236) (988)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHTRER

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E-F T =fF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FET FAET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EE
Net cash (used in)/generated from K& (TR, s 23(a)
operations IR & F 5 (2,150) 126
Income taxes refunded/(paid) Fr8fiRF
(B ATIEH) 379 (686)
Net cash used in operating activities EZEFBHFAAR S FHE (1,771) (560)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREES
Bank interest received 2 HERITH A 2 1
Payment for purchase of property, BEME WEK
plant and equipment BN (750) =
Net cash (used in)/from investing KEEE (A B
activities & FH (748) 1
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to JE 1 &% 4% 4% IR X R IR
ultimate holding company CRL 4 /38 hn (189) 2,160
Increase in amount due to a director FE A 2 = B IE G N 2,490 =
Proceed from term loan raised ESTHERMSNRIE 1,892 =
Payment of lease liabilities and interests 7 & & 1& & | B 5% (728) (728)
Interest paid 2 F & (66) —
Net cash from financing activities METZBRBEELSTE 3,399 1,432
Net increase in cash and ReERBEEEEYWEM
cash equivalents =i} 880 873
Cash and cash equivalents ROA—HESRK
at 1 April REeEEEY 3,958 3,085
Cash and cash equivalents at R=A=+—-HEER
31 March, represented by bank ReEEEWUERTT
balances and cash EHRERE) 4,838 3,958
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1.

62

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of its
registered office and principal place of business are Cricket
Square Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands and Unit E, 33/F., Legend Tower,
7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is New Energy Business
Cluster Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which includes all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$4,852,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and, as at 31 March 2024,
the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$6,750,000 and HK$988,000 respectively.

—RER
FERBRFEREBRERAFTAR
ADAE—HRrREREEMKINER
DA EBRNDEEREEXSMERA
AIGEM LT - s EEm it R+ 2
& 2 b 2 5 Bl & Cricket Square Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & % 7 J1 %€ &
EREHTRESHOIIEEE o

ARARR—HEREERRAR - ARFA R
EHMBAR (MBI AEEDTENER
HEEWREREABIRZERRYE - £
MBARMIBEXRBHNGAMBHRE
Bt 5E29 o

BEERA ARIMEBERHZEER
A 7 & New Energy Business Cluster
Company Limited (— & /A 2 /8 4 @ = Bf
Stk sz 2BRAF) e

mREE
ZEGAVBBERIDBREEZTLEFMA
e((HEEFMAG)BANET BB

SEAN(EEVM KRS EADRE
HhBEMAERNE BB REER
FEGFEYNTEEGTEL D N K #E
BREAARERA - ZEHAMB
BREABAMEXZMARAFGEM
&7 LW AR R A E R B E S E (GEM £
AR B ) PA R 2 78 2 ) {6 B /0 38 R 4 R
HE °

BREEAN FESBRIEHNEER
B TR -

BFEEERR
BHE_ZT-_NEF=A=+—BItFE "
A& B E 4 B 1B 44,852,000/ 7T 0 M
R-ZZE-_MWME=A=+—H ' A&£H
WRBEEFERABBEFESNA
6,750,000 7T }2988,000/% It °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Based on the current liquidity position of the Group, the
Group might have financial uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The directors have given careful consideration to
the Group’s financial performance, working capital, liquidity
position and the stability of the Group’s business, operations
and relationships with its subcontractors, bankers and
financial institutions. The directors have also prepared cash
flow forecast of the Group for a period of next 12 months
ending on 31 March 2025 and assessed whether any shortfall
of funds in meeting the Group’s liquidity requirements, and
accordingly obtained interest-bearing borrowing facilities
from a financial institution to an extent of HK$10,000,000 (As
at 31 March 2024, undrawn facility available for future draw
down amounted to approximately HK$8,108,000) to meet the
potential shortfall. The Group has also been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations and
implementing various strategies to enhance the revenue.
In view of the above, the directors of the Company have
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
financial resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a) Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost,
except for equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income which have been measured at
fair value.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

i B B ()

ERAEENERMREBAMMT + A KB
BRAEAEFEIEEREZ WAy
AEBRBBECEZRENERERNREE -
EECEEERAEENMBRE - &
BES RBESMRN  AEEEBKH
EENBEUHUARAEERE S BHE -
FERBITRCHEEORR ERIE
HAUAEEHE_TE-_AF=A=1+—
HIERER+=—EARBER S RETEAR
YTFEEEROTREUMEARNEEN R
BESFENR WA — S SR
15 % %10,000,000/8 7t Z 7T B fE A @t &
(R—ZE-_WME=A=+—8 " a[#t k%K
IR ELAY K B2 BU @ & #E E %) 58,108,000%8
TO)VEEEERO o AEB I —H FE
BRI IBEEREERA  WE
ERTEZBERRAE M - EREX
Frit - AR R ESAEEHALEAERE
RAMBEREABRERKREELE -

EXRETHBERESN

(a) FTEEE
RAEZEGREUBRRFTIIUE
PRRAIEATTEREE  ERAF
EBEitE2mMEAFEFAEMLEZEA
Wzs 2 RIER BRI -

(b) REEE
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RIM Bt 5 Rk J0 R A B AR A B
& — B & 5 BOE 948 A 3R
GEERY -

SEXBRARMRSGELENAAEE
EASSRAZENER X5
WARFAZARBRIBHREHE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

64

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives from
the date on which they are available for use and after
taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum. Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease and 3-5 years

Leasehold improvement

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
which is presented within these notes, an interest in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss. The
carrying amount of the interest in a subsidiary is reduced
to its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it
is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

3. EXEFERRERM@®

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments

Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when
(i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows
from the financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers
the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables and
contract assets) are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit and loss (“FVPL’), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Such trade receivables and contract
assets are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income; (iii) equity investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income; or (iv) measured
at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting
period following the change in the business model.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

66

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if
it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables, loan receivables and bank
balances and cash.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling).
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative
gains or losses previously accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) are not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (Continued)
Dividends on these investments are recognised in

profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,

cancelled or expires.

3. EXZHBEER @
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable

to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, other borrowings, term loan and bond
payable. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless the
effect of discounting would be insignificant,

case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

3. EAZHBEER @
(e) £MIA @)
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ETRMEERE
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The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset
at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk
on that financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset
has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Other financial assets measured at fair value are not
subjected to ECL assessment.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
(i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped together based on the
past due information.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes
in the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
instrument.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

70

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial asset that meets any of
the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group); or

(i)  there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

3. EXZHBEER @
(e) £@MIA @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal
or interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
or may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EXREHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)
(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

(e) £MIA @)

72

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) c@EEMEE)
Low credit risk /éff%ﬁﬁl/ﬁ‘
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit wmETIIE ca rrsE THe#HE

risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The financial instruments are determined to have low
credit risks are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

ERARK Zf?
() HEEEQERR:

(i) BRABRANENEITHEL
HenRenEEE R

(i) BMRENLHREEIKRMEH
NAEFHRAREES—F)S
BEEBERABITHEAR S
//\Liﬁffmﬁbjj

BEEREEEEERRNERT
B NALR G B 75 R M 5525 o

AREEBRYELS %
REZEYKREMNS  AEEER
Bl EFEREREEBERE - K
Elﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂi&iﬁﬁﬂziﬁﬁﬁ
HEEBEERRABEER LB
%ENK%@&@{H*EEH@%&%’@;‘X
Y EEERERE - HEREBAR
EMAMERERREBERRER
a5 o

BIEERENEMEE
ERAHEBREENMGIRKA
EREEETNNEEN—HHZ
HEHZE ZeREENES
EERE - 2RMEEAEERE
HBEEBRENATEMHAA B R
=

TALBRABARER

o

(@

B s



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing
off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset
is 2 years past due based on historical experience
of recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects
no significant recovery from the amount written off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent
recovery is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

74

()

(9)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and interests
in associates may be impaired or impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets
that generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment losses
is recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

Revenue recognition
Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised
when the assets are let out and on the straight-line
basis over the lease term.

3. EXEFHRRERM@®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the
Group is provision of comprehensive architectural and
structural engineering consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

(@ a good or service (or a bundle of goods or
services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(@)  the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or
service to the customer is separately identifiable
from other promises in the contract (i.e. the
promise to transfer the good or service is distinct
within the context of the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

76

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control
occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and
such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right
to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Service income from provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy
services is recognised over time when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs, or when the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation
can be reasonably measured, the Group applies the
input method (i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
inputs deployed to date as compared to the estimated
total inputs) to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation because
there is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs
and the transfer of control of goods or services to the
customers and reliable information is available to the
Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome
of the performance obligation. The principal input
applied in input methods is labour hours and/or third
party and related party costs incurred.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a
variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to a
customer. The variable consideration is estimated by
using either the expected-value or the most-likely-
amount method whichever is better to predict the
entitled amount. The estimated variable consideration is
then included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised of the
contract will not occur when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised
using the effective interest method. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied
to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

78

(h) Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, the contract is presented as
a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the contract is presented as
advance payments from customers when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A
receivable is the Group’s right to consideration that is
unconditional or only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net advance payment
from customers is presented. Contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

It is common for the Group to receive from the customer
the whole or some of the contractual payments
before the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of
revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as
revenue. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless
the interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

On the other hand, in accordance with the standard
payment schedules of the Group, payments are
normally not due or received from the customer until
the services are completed or when the goods are
delivered. However, for such transactions, revenue is
recognised over time and therefore, a contract asset is
recognised until it becomes a receivable or payments
are received. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in
the contract asset and recognised as interest income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EXREHBEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

)]

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value.

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements
are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss.

Lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3.

80

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Lease (Continued)
As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within
a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to
a separate component are considered to be part of the
total consideration that is allocated to the separately
identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises

(@)  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(o) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(¢) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Lease (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is
provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-
use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which
case depreciation is provided over the estimated useful
life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 2 years
The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the

lessee.
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Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term or the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the
measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises
any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or
loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if:

(@)  the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

(o) the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

MARBREE & ERNE &FERE®
BEARRENHENFTETE °

EHEMLREINELHEEN
REPAEFTIRAKBEREH

EEBETERBEERE

K M

EAEERAREITRRTENTE

$i5t & o

AEEKRBEERBEENHAESR
MRASHEREEENTE  fi
ERREERANERLEZAER
HEARBAEE-—THRAR &
BN BEETHEREMERE

R -

WHRATER  BEERAE

REBEEAR:

(@) ZERBEBB/IEM—ARMN L
HEEEMNERENMEX

HEHE: R

) MEREZMESBHEE

A

BAEELHEEBERRRD

RBREFESONBRME
EREERETNEMNEE

o

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

& N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or
loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a
finance lease or an operating lease at the inception date
of the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

3. EXEFERRERM@®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

84

(k) Lease (Continued)

U]

As lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as an operating
lease if the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease
receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, when it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of
the amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures
for which a provision has been recognised are charged
against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the amount provided is the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. Where the Group expects
a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

3. EXEFHRRERM@®

(k)

n
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

3. EXEFERRERM@®
(m) EEEF

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° Service cost (including current service cost, past
service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

° Net interest expense or income; and
. Remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation
is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or
reduction in future contributions to the plan.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third
parties reduce service cost upon payment of these
contributions to the plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plans (Continued)

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties, the
accounting depends on whether the contributions are

linked to service, as follows:

° If the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce
a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or
from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability

or asset.

3. EXEFERRERM@®
(m) EERF )

FE & A& ()
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° If the contributions are linked to services,
they reduce service costs. For the amount of
contributions that is dependent on the number
of years of service, the Group reduces service
cost by attributing the contributions to periods of
service using the attribution method required by
HKAS 19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For
the amount of contribution that is independent of
the number of years of service, the Group reduces
service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it
is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss is not recognised and at the time
of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, tax
losses and credits can be utilised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment
income on the temporary investment of the specific
borrowings, that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

3. EXEFERRERM@®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

4. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Insurance Contracts

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Entities are required to apply the temporary exception
to account for deferred taxes related to Pillar Two
income taxes immediately upon the issuance of the
Amendments, and to provide the new disclosures as
set out in the Amendments for annual reporting periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The application of the Amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out these

consolidated financial statements.

4. REHFRETBEBMB®RSE

%8
(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

4. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs 4. BRPFE BETEBUBRE

(Continued) ZE Bl ()

(b) Change in Accounting Policy (b) EFtBRE S
Change in accounting policy as a result of ERERASMASM(EBEIUE
application of the HKICPA guidance on the BEMLABe(RESDERS

accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)-Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

The Group has a subsidiary operating in Hong Kong
which is obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory
MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the
assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits
of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against
an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). In June 2022, the
Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“‘“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset severance payment and LSP
(the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the
date of termination of employment) is used to calculate
the portion of LSP in respect of the employment period
before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance for
the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and the
impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has
implemented the guidance published by the HKICPA in
connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so as
to provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the
Abolition.

The Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on
the Group’s LSP liability and staff cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

4. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

90

4. REHFRETBEBMB®RSE

(Continued) ZE Bl ()
(c) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (c) SHEMERKRERNIITR

not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
for the financial year beginning 1 April 2023. These new
and revised HKFRSs include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

RIETERBU B REER
REBEL XERBTMWEBMEMN
AKER-_ZE-_=FMNA—HBHHKBEHN
FHREEEROFTIREETE
B BREED - ZEHITRE
B EEVBERESENBRIEUT
AREAEBEENRS -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBE#R 2%
RN ETHBEN

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024

BERGTENEIRUSTRN) — BESBEARDNIERDD
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

AR EFEAFIHRUETA) - HERHEHNFERDAE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BRAMBHRELRUBIGHETA) - ERABCHERER

—E-_MFE—H—H
1 January 2024
—E2-mWFE—A—H
1 January 2024
—E-MHFE—H—H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)”)

EEREBESR(BRENUBHRRNEY - ERALEERERLKEEEARNE —FT-_NOF-—H—H

HEFNIB(EZERBESRE(EERD

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024

BEEGHEUETRREBUBRELENETR (BTN — HEMRE L H —E-_HWHF-—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

BHEGHEAE2NR (BT AR) — = KMk —T-h¥—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

ERVBRELENE10R LB S LR R28HE(BATR) - REFHABRER 5

ARAELECRNEELHESHTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(i) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon the successful outcome
of measure implemented, at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the
Group. Details are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 3(e), ECL under general
approach are measured as an allowance equal to
12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL
for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IS RAR MR

Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. BEARHEREI{EE @

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) A FTHEREZETERIE

(i) Impairment losses on trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group’s management estimates the
impairment losses for trade receivables and
contract assets measured at amortised cost by
using various inputs and assumptions including
risk of a default and expected loss rate. The
estimation involves high degree of uncertainty
which is based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of such financial
assets measured at amortised cost. Details of
the key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements. The carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$9,831,000 (2023: HK$3,912,000) and Nil
(2023: HK$1,884,000) respectively.

(ii) Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15

As explained in significant accounting policies,
revenue recognition on an uncompleted project is
dependent on estimating the total outcome of the
contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the Group’s recent experience and the nature
of the activity undertaken by the Group, the Group
makes estimates of the point at which it considers
the work is sufficiently advanced such that the
costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. Actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated
at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to
date. The revenue recognised was approximately
HK$30,674,000 (2023: HK$45,369,000).
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E 30 HA A8 B I N5 [ AT 5
BREBNMHE AEESH
AHERATEERDHED
B 2 - LAME AJ S 1 A5
WWK&WA°@ﬁ$&%
EMEBRLERATESRRIE
R R 5 BB SR B9 1 5T 0 35 A A%
YEINBTFERRAY
SHESEONAEHIK
4¢iﬁfU'EﬁWLW/\m
30,674,000 L (ZE = =% :
45,369,000/8 7T) °

=
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

5.

6.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(iii)

Fair value of the unlisted equity securities at
FVTOCI

The fair value of unlisted equity securities that
are not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group use
its judgement to select adjusted NAV approach
and makes assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions are disclosed in notes 15 and 27.
Changes in assumptions could affect the carrying
amount of the FVTOCI.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount
of the Group’s unlisted equity securities at
FVTOCI was approximately HK$4,424,000 (2023:
HK$4,424,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Revenue and business segment

5.

6.

BA 5 HET & & 5 b 5T (@)

(b) FHFTRERZZETERR

(#&)
(iii)

BEATFEFAEMEZE K E
ZHETRABHRZAFLE
THEERMBRSMWIELT
BAFBEHNAFERBGE
KT T - NEEERHE
BIEKAREEFEE I
TEREBESHREHRNTIS
AR SR R A% o BT FR B 4R R
FHFBARZEREE
B 2R W E15R27TIH & -
BEMNEHUESTTERA
FEFAEMEZERZE ZE
T {E °

R-E-_WNME=A=+—H "
NEBEBWIELTRAESE
AFEFAEMBEEKZED
BRMEE 454,424,000 7T (=
T — =4F 1 4,424,000/ 7T) °

WK o EER
(a) BEREBDH

2024 2023
—E-mE —E- =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts with ERM KR EEDE155
customers within the scope of HEEANEFSAWE
HKFRS 15
Contract revenue from provision for REREBEEZHEEERERE
comprehensive architectural and T 72 8 R AR 755 & A
structural engineering consultancy R &I =
services recognised over time 30,674 45,369
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6.

94

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue and business segment
(Continued)

The Group’s operation is mainly provision for
comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services. For the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the chief
operating decision maker (i.e. the directors of the
Company) reviews the overall results and financial
position of the Group as a whole prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform to
HKFRSs. Accordingly, the Group has only one single
operating segment and no further analysis of this single
segment is presented.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts such that
the Group does not disclose information about revenue
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations under the contracts
as all contract works have an original expected duration
of one year or less.

Geographical information

All of the Group’s external revenue during the year are
derived from services rendered in Hong Kong, the place
of domicile of the Group’s operating entities.

The geographical location of the non-current assets
is based on (i) the physical location of the asset in the
case of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets; and (ii) the location of the operation to which
they are allocated in the case of equity investment at
FVTOCI.

Since both the Group’s the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and the operation of
the investee for which the investment was classified as
equity investment at FVTOCI are located in Hong Kong,
no geographical information is presented accordingly.
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AEEERBEM B REERSE
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AEB(EEBRTANNBRTEL
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REBHHR -

(b) HbigE R

AEBRAKNFER AN ED U =
BREAREEREELEERE
/& 8 1 377 ) 3R MR A9 BR 7% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Geographical information (Continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing individually over
10% or more of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Wz & 5 I E R (@)

(b) i ER (@)
ERIEEFNES
BEBEAEBE W FI10% KU LB
KEEEZREHINMT

2024 2023

—E-NE —ET-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Customer A (note) BFEA (K #E) 7,725 =
Customer B = FB 3,744 22,843

Note: Customer A did not contribute 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Bt RBE-_T-_=F=A=1+—
ALtEE EFATEEASE
B U zE10% 8 A L o

7. OTHER INCOME EH#yg A
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Rental income from subleases of FRAEEE BLEmESE

right-of-use assets/rented premises HES KA 291 291
Government grants (note) BT 60 B (47 a2 - 552
Bank interest income |ITH B HA 2 1
Sundry income HIBRA - 80
293 924

Note: /Wﬁ:f .

The Group successfully applied for and fulfilled the condition of
government grants that relate to wage subsidy set up by the Hong
Kong SAR Government for the year ended 31 March 2023. Under
the conditions of the wage subsidy, the Group is required to retain
its local employees even if business is affected by the COVID-19
outbreak.

AEEBRBE-ZE-_=F=A=+—HIE
ERNBEBFLFEGKGEERESEEBRFR
BRUBEIEHMNBTREE - RIETER
BEEV M - BIME XIS BICOVID-19Z 1B £ -
AEENERBEEAHMES -
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8.

96

LOSS BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

BR B Al &5 18
e BB 1R 5 R -

2024 2023
—ENEF —ETZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finance costs RGN
Interest on term loan EHERFE 78 -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABZFERX 53 28
131 28
Staff costs BT KA
(including directors’ remuneration) (BEEEMS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fre ITEREMETR 13,569 15,681
Contributions to defined contribution plans & %8 it Z &t 2| 49 £t 7% 776 961
Total staff costs BIXKAREE 14,345 16,642
Less: Amount included in cost of services ¥ : 5F A B 2 4 AR 76 BX 2K 59
rendered G-t (9,990) (12,435)
Total staff costs included in administrative st ATTE B X898 T B &
expenses 48 %8 4,355 4,207
Other items Hihg g
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services ZEEM & — TR
— Group’s auditor — REEZEA 550 550
— Statutory auditor for subsidiaries of the — — A& E KB QA A E %
Group B gL - 107
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEREKBETE
equipment 88 78
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEETE 687 691
Impairment losses on trade receivables B SR FIEREEE 471 664
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ EHNBE(CRERBERD),
impairment losses on contract assets VRN ! (21) 21

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong)
for qualifying employees of the Group in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of independent
trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,500
or 5% of relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme vest fully and immediately
with the employees. Accordingly, there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the MPF Scheme.

RNEBMBIEE B AD FE485FCEFIIER
BETEBEIAETESTBENA LR
EE2HEBHIMLEE (BES]E -
BESHENEERBILZTEAEGT
WESHNEREEEESHAFTE - A&
B #21,500% 7t =k A8 78 A % Ak AN #95% (A
REERE)HBESTEHENK ME
ENAELREHR AEEHRES
AEMEGRAEEEEETES - ALt
7N 5 [ 37 48 4 {A] °] B A OR R £ ZRCAT B (K
HIBRMRE S M KE -
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9.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9.

EMOLUMENTS

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or payable to the
Company’s directors are as follows:

EEREHEEEMS

ENRENAAREEZHMESERNOT

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director,

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

ENSENERAESHBEAL (FRALLAIANBRAER 2HE

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary  contribution
fees in kind bonuses plan Total
¥e 2K EHHRGE
EEHS ENER MERL iR o
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HE-E-ME-A=+t-ALEE TAT TAT THEL TAT TAT
Executive directors: HiTES:
Chung Yuk Lun EEH 360 - - - 360
Cao Dayong EAE 240 - - - 240
Zhou Renchao® BLBe 1,000 - - - 1,000
Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:
Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZ 120 - - - 120
Lam Yuen Man, Maria mEzn 93 - - - 93
Leung Tsun Ip P ¥ 120 - - - 120
Liu Jianting @ 2z e 3 - - - 3
1,936 - - - 1,936
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_Z-_-F-R=-t-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTES:
Chung Yuk Lun E5H 360 = = = 360
Cao Dayong BEXB 288 - - - 288
Zhou Renchao® RAL#e 583 - - - 583
Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:
Lai Pik Chi, Peggy RES 120 - - - 120
Chan Yuk Chun @ BEyo 56 = = = 56
Mabel Lee T 2R 56 - - - 56
Lam Yuen Man, Maria) HEEO 60 - - - 60
Leung Tsun Ip 2% 60 - - - 60
1,583 : : : 1,583
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9.

98

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

M Ms. Lam Yuen Man, Maria resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 10 January 2024.

@ Mr. Liu Jianting was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 28 February 2024,

@ Ms. Chan Yuk Chun resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 September 2022.

@ Ms. Mabel Lee resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 September 2022.

®) Mr. Zhou Renchao was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 1 September 2022.

No director has waived emoluments in respect of the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2024 included 1 (2023: Nil) director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments of the remaining 4 (2023: 5) individuals are
set out below:

EENEREEENE 3

o MEELZLTRIYR_T_MF—-—A+H
BERRBBIIFRNITES -

@ BlEErER_T-_MEF=-_A=+/\H
BEZITAARRABIBYIENTES -

@ REZBLLIR_Z__FAATILBE
EARBBILIFRTES -

@ WK/ ELTR_E-_—FHLA+NEE
EARRBILIERITES -

® BB ER_ZE-_—_FhA—A\8%E
ZEBEARBRITES

HEz_Z2-_HmWFrR_ZTE=-_=F9=ZAH4
=+ —HALFE - I EEE R E SN

T

AEEBRSOFETMALEEMN T
MEREEETMAAKRERNTHE K
REEREBMELREE -

HE_T-_NF=ZA=+—HBLFE"
rEEBEREZEERFREEECEIZRCZE
—=FER)EET KEZ2MEERE
X2 ZHMRM - R T4R(ZEZ=
F:5R)EEZHMEHIWOT :

2024 2023

el 3 T =F

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Salaries and other emoluments FrekHEMe 5,201 6,915
Contributions to defined contribution plan & %8t Z &t 2| 49 it 3% 554 723
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 97 137
5,852 7,775
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S 9. EERSNEEEMS @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments were paid to the four (2023: five) highest SNOB(CZE_=F:-1A) &%= F M
paid individuals as follows: ATZBemT:
Emoluments band B <& & & Number of individuals
AE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T
21,500,000 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T
%£2,500,0007% 7T 1 1
4 5)
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FIB8HBL(ER) BIxX
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% BEENERNBEEBDEAFREMETER
(2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the Year. % F A16.5% (=ZF = =F : 16.5%) &1
The Cayman lIslands levies no tax on the income of the AERETIAHARARAEEH 2 A
Company and the Group. BAE A FLIE -
2024 2023
—E-MNE B =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Current tax BITH A
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BAEFFH
(Over)/under-provision for prior year BAEFEGREEME)
B (35) 373
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense
and the product of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable

100

tax rate is as follows:

10. FIEHER) BX &)
Frem(Ee)  BxmiRnHAEER
N@EARERZEREERNOT

Reconciliation of tax (credit)/expense FHE(E®) XK 2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FA T
Loss before taxation BR B A1 18 (4,887) (4,271)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% % i@ f % £16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (ZEZ=F:16.5%)2
Frig i (806) (705)
Non-deductible expenses Al 0B 1,227 1,241
Non-taxable income FEFE R UL A - (91)
Tax effect of temporary difference not AERBREEZE BB E
recognised 186 115
Unrecognised tax losses RERIAE B 18 8
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FRAZAIRERRIBEE 2
previously not recognised MGy (625) (568)
(Over)/under-provision for prior years BEFEGER) BETR (35) 373
Tax (credit)/expense for the year AEEHEGRR) FX (35) 373

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$7,666,000 (2023: HK$11,344,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

BrERHAE -
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11. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is as
follows:

(a) Basic loss per share

1.

FRER
SREARBHERF,(BE)FHEMNT :

(a) BRELXEE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —T=-=
Loss attributable to owners KARIHEB ANEGEE
of the Company (HK$’000) (FAT) (4,852) (4,644)
Weighted average number L 38 AR hn S 8 (T AR
of ordinary shares (’000) 493,000 493,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents) PR B A g 18 OB ) (0.98) (0.94)

(b)

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share equals to basic loss per share as
there was no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

12. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

2023/2024F EE HEIRRBIEREEERAA

12.

(b) BR#EFER
REBEE_Z_NER_T_ZF=
A=+—HIEFE EREEEE
ERNEFREREBEER THRIT &
BOTABEEEYENTRARK -

g
EFTRAEABRE-T-ME=A
=t—BLEENHEARE(CBo=F:
)
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

102

13. ¥1% - BERRE

Leasehold Furniture and

improvement fixtures Total
BER

HENEEE EE#E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAEL TEL THET

Reconciliation of carrying amount REE2HE -8HZ-E-M%

— year ended 31 March 2024 ZA=t-HLEE

At the beginning of the year E30)] - - -
Addition nE 750 - 750
Depreciation e (88) = (88)
At the end of the reporting period BEHR 662 - 662
Cost %N 750 78 828
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (88) (78) (166)
662 - 662

Reconciliation of carrying amount — REBEZHE - BEZ_5-=F

year ended 31 March 2023 ZA=t+-BLEE

At the beginning of the year F1) - 78 78
Depreciation e = (78) (78)
At the end of the reporting period REHK = = =
Cost S - 78 78
Accumulated depreciation 25t g = (78) (78)
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14.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EREEE
The Group as lessee AEBEEREABEA
Disclosures of lease-related items: HEMBER ZHKE:
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
At 31 March: MR=RA=+—8:
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE
— Office premises — MR E 856 173
The maturity analysis, based on AEBEHEEEBEEN KRR
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s BemEs 2 BamT:
lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year — PR—%F 728 182
— Between 1 and 2 years — —EZWF 182 =
910 182
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—HLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHREEEZITEER
— Office premises — WA E 687 691
Lease interests HEF B 53 28
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets #Ef{F FA# & E 2 kA 291 291
Total cash outflow for leases MEZReRLBE 728 728
Addition to right-of-use assets ARECRAEEE 1,370 =

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$875,000 (2023:
HK$180,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$856,000 (2023: HK$173,000).

MREEABHST50008 L (—E ==
F:180,0008 L) HAFRAEEED
856,000/8 st (= T — = 4 : 173,000/8
JL) ©
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14.

15.

104

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group leases an office premises for its daily operations.
Lease term is 2 years.

Restrictions or covenants

The lease imposes a restriction that, unless the approval is
obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be
used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or
pledging the underlying assets.

EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

14.

15.

EREEE @
AEBFEREBEAM@®
AEERE—ERAWEREAHEE -
BEBRAME -

BR 5 =k 22 5

HARE ARG - BIARKLEEARAE
ERAREEETHAKEER  BAXAK
BAGHEXNEREREE -

BAFEFAREMZERENER
BRE

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FH& T
Unlisted equity securities EEAEBEAFEFAEMS
designated at FVTOCI Kz (PrEAER) 2
(non-recycling) I IR A E FH 4,424 4,424

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) comprise equity securities which the Group
intends to hold for strategic purposes, and which the Group
has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in
this category.

The Group held shares, being 9.68% equity interest in Kin On
Engineering (International) Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong SAR.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of these shares was
approximately HK$4,424,000 (2023: HK$4,424,000).

BAFEFAHEBCEZEARSENERMEE
BREAEERSEREENNBRANES
REE DR 2 R & A
UL R D BHER -

AEBERBEEZIR(BEBR)BRARAZ
f& 15 (BNO.68% # %) ' Z A RN & B
[ 5 Ak 52 e

R-ZE-_WME=A=+—0 ZZ®RH
2 RN FAEH) /H4,424,0008 T(ZE = =
£ 1 4,424,000 7T) ©
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

16. ESRHMEBEWREUREHNE

CONTRACT ASSETS 3
2024 2023
—EWE —EF-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B E FET FB T
Trade receivables ESEWXKE
Trade receivables from third parties % =77 2 & 5 E W A 10,986 4,576
Less: Impairment losses B R EE B (1,155) (664)
(a)(i) 9,831 3,912
Contract assets EHEE
Contract assets BHEE - 1,905
Less: Impairment losses R E B 1R = (21)
(@)(ii) - 1,884
Sub-total NEE 9,831 5,796
Other receivables H {th FE W FRIE
Other receivables H e W ROER 134 100
Deposits and prepayments E& RIBARK 342 1,928
Due from an investee company JE W 1t ¥ & A A (b) 160 160
636 2,188
10,467 7,984
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

(@) Trade receivables and contract assets

U]

Trade receivables

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date
and net of impairment losses, is as follows:

16.

ESRHEMERFIEUREHNE
E (#)
(a) EZEBREREGHNEE
() EZEWXE
HEREWMF  REZAH
HERMBAEEENE S
FEW SRR B DT

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

1-30 days 1E30K 7,194 1,368
31-60 days 31E60K 370 1,147
61-90 days 61ZE90K 79 474
91-180 days 91E180Kk 65 343
Over 180 days B iB180K 2,123 580
9,831 3,912

The Group does not allow any credit period to its
customers.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risks and impairment losses for trade receivables

is included in note 26.

The movement in the impairment loss allowance of

AEBYARRMEEPREHE
(CRERERI

EFEASEEBEERRK
BRERFBEZRESEZ
& BB R KT 5E26 ©

B 51 WK IR 2 RE 1R B

trade receivables are as follows: B2 BT :
2024 2023
—E_NE —E_=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FH&IT
At the beginning of the year F9) 664 -
Impairment loss B &5 18 491 664
At the end of the year F R 1,155 664
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
(@) Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)
(ii) Contract assets
The movements (excluding those arising from
increases and decreases both occurred within the

same year) of contract assets from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as

16. ESRHMEBEWREUREHNE
-3¢ )

(a) EZERFREBRENEE @)

(i) BHEE
FARFEB BB RS ER
BN BEFANNENE
ENEE(TEERRF NG
MERLEEANES) MT

follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME —EF-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FAT
At the beginning of the year REF] 1,884 626
Increase due to operation in the year A4 A & i& i1 32 11 - 1,905
Reversal of impairment losses/ FAERREEIE
(Impairment losses) recognised BE,/CREER)
during the year 21 21)
Transferred to trade receivables HEE S EWHIEA (1,905) (626)
At the end of the reporting period R EH R - 1,884

The decrease (20283: increase) in contract assets
was result of certain construction projects
completed and the rights to consideration of
construction project work become unconditional
at the reporting period (2023: billing condition met
beyond the estimated stage of completion).

The amount of revenue recognised during the year
from performance obligations satisfied (or partially
satisfied) in previous period is approximately
HK$1,905,000, mainly due to completion of certain
construction contracts.

(b) Due from an investee company

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

BHEERD (ZT_=F:
BTIERETERERE
TR BREHMARRTIE
MRERamXREKEC
To-F BEEHT IR
Bom R AT B IR

FAM E—BHE S ER
DEK)BHELERHIK
= & %8 4 51,905,000 7T -
FEHRTEXNE TEEAL
Fr 2L -

(b) B EREQTRIE
AEMRAARER 2R ARE
S -
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17.

108

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay Long Service Payment
(“LSP”) under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments
in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
under certain circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons other than
serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at
the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed
term and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable
is determined with reference to the employee’s final salary
(capped at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by
the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions to MPF scheme or ORSO plan, with an overall
cap of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not
have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its
LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect on the
Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government
of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a subsidy
scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after
the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a
certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to
offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. On the other
hand, the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s voluntary
contributions made on pre-transition, on or post-transition can
continue to be used to offset pre-transition and post-transition
LSP. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and
the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition and determined the impact to be immaterial.

Except for voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution
under the MPF Scheme as a defined contribution scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

7. RRBERNEE

RESBLPESTERTBERK
fIZARBEES ((RESH
Qs

BRIBEEERERBGHN EFETBERT &
BXRERESAFHNEEREREBEENE
HE%E  sSLBEARE EERKE
TARKEXFBEUIINNERERAWERE: B
B1E65 A LR B B B IR (B
GRATHAN BRETHES - E
INHERESCELRBREENEET S
(£ A22,500/8 ) M R FH - B A
KB M58 TE & AT B o B SR IR AT 2 4
NAEENEMNEGESN S2EEN
KIR& 4% _£R A390,000% 7T - BAI -
AEBREAMNBUNESTHERARE
TEERSERT -

RZZTZZF XA BIFEEIEG T
B OEREAEEXAGERESHERID
EERAGFRERES - ZBUHBSRBE
A =E—AFHRA—H)EEXAEK-
S BERBERFETEHEL B
BhEt 3 EBERABEMN2FRNEE
FINBEEESFARREN—TES
B o

RIBERTGD > EREBHEK  A&EH
Mol it e MR - ML IREEM
E/ 8%z ATAEZERNEHBER
HAWRRESEE  ECERARE A
BERHMENEREEE -2 —FH ' &
SERBEBHAMENBRHERELN
FE TR M AT 42 4B A R0 S B X H BB AT 12
MRRE - o BRAHRNRERS
BEESTHRE LREZEBEAHARN
RO AF M EZA LIRS FHE

B o
A

AEEEERE THE R EER XE
EEFEBEMN -

BrEREERN  BERERESTE (E
A — R FRTE # R A 8 BUOR Wy R A
IR 4R R SR 4 T2 FE A A 5K e
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. EZR HMERIE
2024 2023
—E-_E —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FE T FAET
Trade payables ESZEMNRE
Trade payables — third parties BORNREBE-F=7 (@) 2,238 -
Contract liabilities SHAEE (©) 216 -
2,454 -
Other payables H fth FE $ 1B
Accrued charges and FERTE A Kk H b fE 5k IE
other creditors 7,041 5,179
Interest payables J& A< F) B 12 =
Amount due to a director B EERIE (b) 2,490 =
Amount due to ultimate holding JE A fx AR HE AR A R FRIE (b)
company” 1,971 2,160
11,514 7,339
13,968 7,339
* Included an amount due to ultimate holding company by - BREARAENERERARFEL
the Company of approximately HK$1,941,000 and by three 1,941,000 7T & = [E M B 2 7] & 1+ &
subsidiaries of approximately HK$30,000. 42 i% A B 5% TH #980,0005%8 T ©
(a) Trade payables (a) BEZENSIE
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing HERESHR REZEHFTED
analysis of trade payables based on invoice date, is as BB RIBRE DA T
follows:
2024 2023
—E_NE —EFE-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
1-30 days 1230K 2,238 -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

18. EZK Hb FEFRIE (&)

(b) Amount due to a director/ultimate (b) BNEE SAERATNK
holding company 18
The amounts due are interest free, unsecured and ENRBERRE - BIKHERERE
repayable on demand. & o
(c) Contract liabilities (c) aHEaE
The movements (excluding those arising from increases FANFAEEUBREERSE5
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of FHEEANNAYBENEE (T
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within BERBERNENEBRLEEN
HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows: BgEMT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT T T
At the beginning of the year JiNE=X ) - =
Billings in advance of performance BB EERER
obligation 216 -
At the end of the reporting period e = 216 =
Contract liabilities are balances due to customers EHBBERERESGHNTENER
under construction contracts. These arise if a particular R FA%E - N REFE BRI B
milestone payment exceeds the revenue recognised to Bie5 B IER IR K A B ) A E R
date under the cost -to-cost method. Ml esEsEsEEBEn -
The increase (2023: Nil) in contract liabilities in 2024 “TEOMESPHBEEMCE
was mainly due to the increase (2023: Nil) in advances TEEF E)TEAR RS RE
received from customers in relation to the provision RHEBEAGNHBENTBERERK
of construction contracts at the end of the reporting HEN(ZE_=ZF &)
period.
The amount of billings in advance of performance FEHR -—FRNERAWRHNE
received that is expected to be recognised as income TEENEHEEERSE -
within one year.
19. TERM LOAN 19. EHERK

110

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company entered
into an on-demand loan facility agreement with a financial
institution to the extent of HK$10 million. The balance of term
loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at 16% per annum and
repayable in 6 months from the date of draw down.

At 31 March 2024, the Company had approximately
HK$8,108,000 (2023: Nil) undrawn borrowing facilities
available.

HE-_Z-_N&E=-A=+—HILtEE "
AN R — BT S Bl RT3 1 B SRR

% R %8 /10,000,000 JT H) 1% &5

=)

Z-oAREFRRERT  REFE16%
RERARNRERAYE6EARNEER -

RZE-_ME=A=+—8 AQAH
498,108,000 (ZZFE == : T) W Al
AREDRERME -
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

20. OTHER BORROWINGS 20. HfpfER
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group received an RBZE-_Z-_TF=A=+—HILFE"
advance of HK$5.5 million (“Alleged Debt”). The proceeds of & B B Ug B 24 705,500,000 7T ([465 78
the Group’s Alleged Debt were received through a subsidiary Bl AEEEBEBMERIEE

of the Company. The then management had been unable to
reach certain former directors of the Company, who were also
directors (“Former Directors”) of the subsidiary, to obtain the
loan agreements and representations in relation to the Alleged
Debt.

On 20 July 2020, a statutory demand served on the Company
by a purported creditor, demanding the Company to settle the
Alleged Debt together with accrued interest in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$5,830,000 within 3 weeks of the
service of the statutory demand. If no payment was made by
the end of the 3-week period, the purported creditor might
present a winding-up petition against the Company. On 23
September 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong by the same purported creditor. Pursuant to the writ,
the plaintiff is claiming from the Company the Alleged Debt
with accrued interest.

Notwithstanding the above, the current management has
been unable to reach the Former Directors, on 31 July 2020
the Company issued and filed a writ of summons, together
with the statement of claim dated 30 July 2020, against the
Former Directors for breach of the directors’ duties in the High
Court of Hong Kong. An application was made to the court
to serve the writ out of jurisdiction on the Former Directors in
the People Republic of China. The process of serving writs
against certain former directors will take years as it involves
corresponding court(s) in China. There is no update as of the
date of this report.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 24 January 2020, 31 July 2020, 31 August
2020 and 8 October 2020.

2023/20245F ZHE  FEIREABR AL

BANE — M ERRIKE - EEER
BEZEETTIRZMBARESNA
RAMES(HES)NEHE - KM

EXmELERERETNRH -

MR_Z-_ZTF+A-+H BEEEA
MAARBEEH—MNEAETERERE B
KARARETEREEEXRER =
EHRNEEEBERERE T ES K
495,830,000/ 7T ° W X = & £ B HA IR

HZAARERMAR  ZEBERARE
HARRREBFREF R-_FT_FTF

NAZT=B AREAEER-BHE
BABENBES S ERRDAERE
MERSHK - REBEASK RERAA
RAREEBEBEREETHNE -

BB m#ﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
MEENMEHE  WN_ZT_FTFtA
=+t—8" K ARBEREERME
REEBRERANESELTFEEMS
R ERBEBEAE-_ZT_ZFTFLA=1H
MEARMRME - AQF) B EARH B

AEBBERIINGZSMREEMRNPEA
REMBEOAES - AR S KT EHIE
AP BeMXERTRZESHREF
BRENEE - BEAREAHMEELEERE -

FEHBEFL2HALARABMA T
F-AZTHEA —ZB-TFELA=+—
B ZE2-ZFNA=+-—AK-Z_
ZETANBZRE °
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES

21. HEERE

Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payables lease payments
BREESEMNK EREENRZEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F —E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FET FAET
Within one year —F KN 728 182 695 180
In the second to fifth FE_EREMRIKE
years, inclusive BEEMSF) 182 = 180 =
Total minimum finance XEREHE
lease payments B CE 910 182 875 180
Less: Future finance B R EE N
charges EH (35) 2 NAFTER N/AT 3 F
Present value of lease HEETZHEE
obligations 875 180 875 180
Less: Amount due for B AR @
settlement within 12 NENZ2
months (shown under (RmEa’
current liabilities) i) (695) (180)
Amount due for settlement B+ —1& A 1%
after 12 months Bz o8 180 -

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities is approximately 6% (2023: 5.125%).

BRAREEAGENFHEEERFELY
5H6% (ZFE = =4 :5125%) °
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE 22. RAERFEE
(a) Share capital (a) BRA
2024 2023
—E-ME —ET-=F
No. of No. of
shares shares
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
R4 & B & 15 1 B
TR FET T % FAT
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of FR M E0.018 T
HK$0.01 each 7T AR 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE:
At beginning and at end of R 3R & B4 I B R
the reporting period 493,000 4,930 493,000 4,930
(b) Reserves (b) fEfE
i)  Share premium i) B 17 % (8
Under the Cayman Companies Act, the BIBEFAEAFZE BROEE
share premium account is distributable to the BRADBE TARARRE - M
shareholders of the Company provided that NEEEZREESE 2H
immediately following the date on which the #® AAFIEEREIR —K
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the XBBEPRES D HEE
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts BEK -

as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE (Continued)
(b) Reserves (Continued)

114

ii)

iii)

Other reserve

Other reserve represented the sum of (i) the
difference between the issued share capital of
K&K Chartered Architect & Associates Limited
(which were transferred to Energetic Tree
Limited (“Energetic Tree”) pursuant to the group
reorganisation to rationalise the structure of
the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Group Reorganisation”))
and the newly issued share capital of Energetic
Tree to Energetic Way Limited (“Energetic Way”);
and (i) the difference between the issued share
capital and share premium of Energetic Tree and
the newly issued share capital of the Company to
Energetic Way and Alpha Advantage International
Limited as a result of the share swap pursuant to
the Group Reorganisation.

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of
equity investments designated of FVTOCI under
HKFRS 9 that are hold at the end of the reporting
period.

22, BRARRHE @)

(b) &
ii)

iii)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

23. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(@) Cash used in operations

23. HtBREREER
(a) EEMARS

2024 2023
—E-_mF —E-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loss before tax b 5 B /&5 18 (4,887) (4,271)
Adjustments for: o
Bank interest income AT A B A (2) ©)
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREHETE
equipment 88 78
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 687 691
Impairment losses on trade B 5 e W kI8 R B & 18
receivables 491 664
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ EHEE(CREEE
impairment losses on contract ‘)R (E & 1B
assets (21) 21
Interest expenses FERAX 131 28
Changes in working capital: EEESED:
Contract assets EHEE 1,905 (1,279)
Contract liabilities aHERE 216 -
Trade and other receivables B 5K E b WA (4,858) 846
Trade and other payables B 5 N H A RO 4,100 3,349
Cash (used in)/generated from EEFTR)/ FERe
operations (2,150) 126
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

23. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 23. HttREREER @)
(Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEEFHEENEEEE
financing activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from $% MEETHELEMNREY
financing activities are as follows: EAE U
Amount due
to ultimate
Interest holding ~ Amount due Lease Other
2024 Term loan payable company to a director liabilities  borrowings Total
ERNERER
a1 -3 EHER AR AAHRE ENEZHA HEAE R it

HK$000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HK§'000 HK§ 000
TR TR TR TEn TR TER TR

At beginning of the year RET) - - 2,160 - 180 5,500 7,840
Interest expenses flERX - 78 - - 53 - 131
Additions to lease liabilties  FEREEE - - - - 1,370 - 1,370
Net cash flows ReReFE 1,892 (66) (189) 2,490 (728) - 3,399
At end of the year RER 1,802 12 1971 2,490 875 5,500 12,740
2023
St =
At beginning of the year REA - - - - 880 5,500 6,380
Interest expenses 8% - - - - 2 - 28
Net cash flows Renetg - - 2,160 - (728) - 1432
At end of the year RER - - 2,160 - 180 5,500 7,840
(c) Non-cash transactions (c) kBEXRSF
New additions to right-of-use assets were approximately 38 B P A E 491,370,000
HK$1,370,000 (2023: Nil). FT(—E=—=f&:T)o
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24.

25.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9

24 EXBAB SRS

TEEEAEHMH

AEBTEERABNEH  2FERE
EMBERERMEINMBBERARRES
XM EBERAETHESHMER X

to the consolidated financial statements, is as follows: EBN € 0T
2024 2023
—EWEF —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F& T
Short-term employee benefits HEEERF 7,234 8,635
Post-employment benefits Bt B3k 12 43 A 554 723
7,788 9,358
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25. RERESHWERmMTIA
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Financial assets: EWMEE:
Financial assets measured at amortised BEH#EXNAFTENESREE
cost 14,963 8,130
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI: EAFEFAZANRIZE
MErEE:
Equity instruments ffET A 4,424 4,424
Financial liabilities: cRBE:
Financial liabilities measured at amortised &K AT EN SR AE
cost 21,144 12,839
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26.

118

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are (a) price risk, (b) liquidity risk, (c) credit risk and (d)
capital management. The board of directors generally adopts
conservative strategies on its risk management and limits the
Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum. The Board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below:

(@) Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investment in unlist equity securities.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of
the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% higher/lower (2023: 15%
higher/lower):

— other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2024 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$664,000 (2023: increase/
decrease by approximately HK$664,000) as a
result of the changes in fair value of FVTOCI.

26. AR EEEERBE

rEBCRMIAEENTIZRARREQE
RER - ORBESRAR  OFERAR
RAEXRER - EFE - REBRTE
REBERR - I FA K E A EEDZ
ERBRRERE EEFEEREIRAEE
BEZFRBROBR  BadmT:

(@) EER
AEBEEARELETRAZSD
12 T 1 B AR (B BB -

ATBRESTIREREH R
WkERRETE -

ERELEA TEKIEN (T - =
F LA TB.I5%)

- BE-—E-—_mE=f=+-—
BEtFEMNEMEZEKREE
HiZ A FEFTAEMmE2ER
HHAFEZ MmN R
> #1664,000/ T(ZZE = =
& 380 F D #9664,00055
JG)
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

26. iR EEEERBUR (®)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

(b)

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants (if any), to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in

the short and longer term.

The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile
of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period, based on the earliest date on which the Group is

required to settle, is summarised below:

REE TR

AREBNEZAGCESRHENER
BEECZEESBTE -AEE 2
BREABTHEERRDEST LR
HERRZ(WA)WAARBR - K
BRAEEEN ISR BE S
BRRRSHEBEL RN ERE
SHE UWEMNESBREHOR
PELHRK o

AEEFTEEREBRTES
RMAERRERRERNAEEE
BBEZRFEHNBTRERGL
B BB R AT

Non-derivative financial liabilities ETEESRER
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
—FR/ —FHE
REXR MEUR @5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TERT TET
At 31 March 2024 R=-ZB-MF=ZA=+—-H
Trade payables excluding BHRENFERE LD
contract liabilities aE) 2,238 - 2,238
Lease liabilities HEBRE 728 182 910
Accrued charges and other ~ FEET & B I H th FEff
creditors A 7,041 - 7,041
Term loan EHE R 1,966 - 1,966
Other borrowings Hifg® 5,500 - 5,500
Amount due to ultimate JE N B 4R PR IR A B 3R IE
holding company 1,971 - 1,971
Amount due to a director T EERE 2,490 - 2,490
Interest payables JE A 718 12 - 12
21,946 182 22,128
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b)

REBE S R &

26. B EKEEEEERBK @)

Non-derivative financial liabilities (Continued) kTSR ERE(E)
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
—FR/ —F+
REX MEFLARA @t
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAET
At 31 March 2023 R=ZB=-=ZfZA=+—H
Lease liabilities HEARE 182 = 182
Accrued charges and other T & B 2 £t fE 1
creditors ;A 5,179 - 5,179
Other borrowings HAER 5,500 - 5,500
Amount due to ultimate JE 1 B 4% PR IR A B 3R IE
holding company 2,160 - 2,160
13,021 _ 13,021
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e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. MEE R EERERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (c) EERK
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables BABBRARPERNESR
and bank balances recognised on the consolidated Hip el R IE A KR T & R 00 BR
statement of financial position, which is net of HEGBRREESEER EASER
impairment losses, represents the Group’s exposure to FREEER R - M & R
credit risk without taking into account the value of any FRERYIEMEE LR 2B
collateral held or other credit enhancements. (ER
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) EZEWRBEBREVNEE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced EERBEREFBERALE
mainly by the individual characteristics of each ZEHRAEERBEREF %
customer rather than the industry or country BEXNERE - Bt $EI
in which the customers operate and therefore HENEERBRIEZTESR
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily %fiﬂﬁ#%}iﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁi
arise when the Group has significant exposure to FERER BT E -

individual customers.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBERR AEERE
a concentration of credit risk as 30% (2023: 10%) EWRIBREZEERR S
and 66% (2023: 42%) of the total trade receivables FE DB AB30% (ZT ==
were due from its largest customer and the five F:10%) &66% (= T = =
largest customers respectively. F:42%) BARREKRA &
AEEFRAREE »
The Group applies a simplified approach in AEERBAEEAEFEE
calculating ECL for trade receivables and contract SEWKIBEBREGHNEERTE
assets and recognises a loss allowance based HEEBE YREHENRE
on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has BREZHEHNCEEEBRE
established a provision matrix that is based on REBEEEG YREBEEBE
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for EEBBERE I RERE -
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and WHEBARLECERERE
the economic environment. The expected loss rate RATE A EZELAE - BE
used in the provision matrix is calculated for each EEAPFERNERBEEXD
category based on actual credit loss experience BIEBELFNERE f§)§5
over the past years and adjusted for current and BB AEBHETENS
forward-looking factors to reflect differences & & 71 & AT IE 1% E %i&
between economic conditions during the period THRE URBKEBTH
over which the historical data has been collected, BHRLBEAARR - Bk
current conditions and the Group’s estimate on S A R 7K &2 B Y JE R RROIR TR
future economic conditions over the expected lives HERANHRREEMRRZ
of the receivables. There was no change in the MEAZENER - AFER
estimation techniques or significant assumptions fhET AT s & KRR I R 2%
made during the year. EEE) o
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

26.

Bt 75 I B ' R B % UK ()

(c) EERE &)
(i) EFEWREBRENEE

(Continued) (4&)
Trade receivables BESENE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HHEBBEX HIREE BEEE
As at 31 March 2024 % HK$’000 HK$°000
R-ZB-NE=A=+—AH FERT THER
1-30 days past due BE1Z30R 1.49% 7,303 (109)
31-60 days past due #@HEI31260AH 1.60% 376 (6)
61-90 days past due #HE61Z90H 1.25% 80 (1)
91-180 days past due #HEI91Z=180H 1.52% 66 (1)
Over 180 days past due BE180R M k£ 32.84% 3,161 (1,038)
10,986 (1,155)
As at 31 March 2023
RZEZ=F=A=+—H
1-30 days past due #H1230A 1.08% 1,383 (15)
31-60 days past due #H331260H 1.12% 1,160 (13)
61-90 days past due # #3612 90H 1.04% 479 (5)
91-180 days past due #HI912180H 1.72% 349 6)
Over 180 days past due #H1808 LA £ 51.87% 1,205 (625)
4,576 (664)
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

U]

(i)

26. iR EEEERBUR (®)

(c) FERMRK @

Trade receivables and contract assets (i) EZEWRBEBREVNEE
(Continued) (&)
Contract assets BHEE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TBEEE X BEREE BEEE
As at 31 March 2023 % HK$'000 HK$’000
RZE-=F=A=+—H FEL FAT
Within 1 year —F RN 1.10% 1,905 1)

Except as indicated above, the impairment losses
on trade receivables and contract assets as a
result of applying the ECL model was insignificant
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Amounts due from an investee company

The Group considers that the amount due from
investee company has low credit risk based on the
borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low
risk of default. Impairment on amount due from an
investee company is measured on 12-month ECL
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

2023/2024F EE HEIRRBIEREEERAA

(i)

BRUUEmTREN BEZ
T-_MFEFRZFT==F=H
=+—BLEFE BERRE
HEEEREAMEANE
ZREWHKBERANEENR
EFEITNERX -

EWRKREAR ZHE

AEERR EREBERAE
RHMARTAENRERER
EHENTRENENERER
K Bt EREKRERE
ZHRENEERBRBRE - —
B 48 B 2 ] 8 W R TR AR
B2 AFRMEE BB
E RRTEHER -
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

124

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERE @

(c)

(d)

(i) Amounts due from an investee company
(Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into
account the historical actual credit loss experience
and the financial position of the counterparties by
reference to, among others, their management or
audited accounts, adjusted for forward-looking
factors that are specific to the debtors and general
economic conditions of the industry in which
the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as
well as the loss upon default in each case. The
management of the Group considers the ECL
of these financial assets to be insignificant after
taking into account the financial position and
credit quality of the counterparties.

(iii) Other receivables

Other receivables is closely monitored by the
directors of the Company. The directors of
the Company consider that the ECL of other
receivables are immaterial to the consolidated
financial statements.

(iv) Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is low because
the counterparties are high credit rating.

There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.

26. AR EEEEZERBEK @)

(i) ERFREATZHKE(E)

EBFAEREEEEE &
SECERELEREES
BB EHFHOMBMRR
2EZE(HTRBEEEEX
REZEE XRBEBA
FEMMEEREIREFH
REMETENEBBEAEMN
REHAE  LETZES
MEENENBRXUAREE
BATHWREOER KERE
HBFINHBRARAREEE
R AEEEBERRZ
SeRMEEMNEMEREER
EAEK -

(iii) HtzEWRIE
HEtmEKRRIBEHAARES
BYEE - ARAEERA
Hih B R ENTEREEE
BHGEMBRERAETERX -

(iv) SBRITH
HREFHFNEETRARS -
AU SRITEHOEERBE
1K o

AEENBHFARMAEAR

Capital Management (d) EXRER

The objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and to provide returns for
shareholders. The Group manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments according to changes in
economic conditions, including payment of dividend
to shareholders, return of capital to shareholders or
issue of new shares or sale of assets to reduce debts.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies and
procedures during the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Capital Management (Continued)

27.

The Group is required to maintain a sufficient public
float of 25% for the Company’s shares. The Group has
maintained a sufficient public float to comply with the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

(a)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
financial instruments measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

2023/2024F EE HEIRRBIEREEERAA

26. AR EEEEZERBER @)

27.

(d) EXEE @)

AEBAGERFEHOARRABRD
BINNRFFRE - REBMEFH#
FEARBRFIRAETGEM £
HAl -

AT EIHE
ATE

EERTANKEER _T_NER
TR C=F=A=+—HHAFTELE
BEARER-

(a)

BRAVPEFEBZERMEERERS

RFEERERE
TREJNNKREMRRE LMK
HEERF13 - AP EA A
EAFESEEARBN=ZAEREL
FURAFEFEZARESRT
ARFE- - R FEFEMBRH
B2REBERMTFERZH A
FEZUEEREEREREMET -
ERERRENMT

- E—HREEA2FERRA
E-—RBwAREBGE D&
AERRERMSTHERE
EXRBEZIAKABRE -

- F_REERX2FERAS
— AW ABBFE - BIREE
NEE— QA BRH AR
B RTERMAEKRTAE
KRB AEE - TAEEHA
HEREZDMGMEHIEL
WAIER o

- E=RRHE-AFERBE
APA BB AEEE o
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. AR EFE@®E)
Fair values (Continued) DFEE)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (a) BRAFEFEZESREERERS
value (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RFEEERFEE(E)
Fair value measurement categorised into
BTS2 E2AYENE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R FZR i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL FTAET FAET FAET
Fair value at 2024 —E_MEZAYE
The Group K&
Other investments (note 15): Hbi% & (ffit15)
Unlisted securities FEMESH 4,424 = - 4,424
Fair value at 2023 Sl : e AN |
The Group A&
Other investments (note 75): Hi& & (Hat15) :
Unlisted securities FEMES 4,424 - - 4,424

126

No movement of fair value of the unlisted securities
was recognised as the changes of fair value was

insignificant.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or

out of Level 3.

MRATERBETEA B
AERFLMBFOATERD -

BE_ZT-_WNF=ZA=+—8HItF
B F—HEF_HTEZEL
mOEMEE TEBE=RKIAE
A Sk o
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(b)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 March 2022 and 2023:

The Group’s directors are responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the

board of directors at least twice a year.

Level 3 fair value measurements

27. A EFTE @)

(b)

BREXAEERAGERFRR=
ECCER-E-_=F=A=+-—
BAFEFAEMANMGERTR
BWAEE:
REBESAFMBRRMAEE
CEERBEATEE B
EFE=H/AFEFE - HEREFK
HERZNRBAYBRENESS
ELEFHETHR -

Effect on

fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of Fair value
Description technique inputs Range inputs 2024
T A B B A\ TE B 15 0 ¥ AF¥HE
# at & {8 3 i WAER HE AFENFE —ZFE-_NF
HK$’000
FTHER
Unlisted securities Adjusted Net Discount of Lack 5% Decrease 4,424

JEETMREF

Assets Value
KAEREE
F1E

of Marketability
= 3% i

I iE

WD
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 28. RARM B MR T
THE COMPANY
Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of
the Company and the movements in its reserves are set out

REFERAGINKERE  AAF
MBEMRAREEFEZESNOT

128

below:
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries HERKB AR 2 2
Equity investment at FVTOCI BEAFEFAEMEEK
AR R & 4,424 4,424
4,426 4,426
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RIE R 63 63
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B JB A B 3R IR 187 96
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 91 92
341 251
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

28.

ANAT]R B AR R ()

2024 2023
—E-E —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F& T
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H {th FE {5 3R 6,372 4,473
Amount due to a director B EERIE 2,490 =
Amount due to ultimate holding JE A fx AR HE AR A B FRIE
company 1,941 2,160
Amount due to subsidiaries NN 442 806
Term loan FHER 1,892 =
Other borrowings H b & 3k 5,500 5,500
18,637 12,939
Net current liabilities REBAEBEZEE (18,296) (12,688)
Net liabilities aE (13,870) (8,262)
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Issued capital BEITRA 4,930 4,930
Reserves R (18,800) (13,192)
Capital deficiency BN A (13,870) (8,262)

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June
2024 and signed on its behalf by

Director
EZE
Chung Yuk Lun
EEB

FHERRRER T -_WEA=-TN
AKEESH ERETIE  YHAUTE
EREXEE

Director
5Z
Cao Dayong
BRE
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Year ended 31 March 2024 #%Z —Z —PI#F=H=—1—HIFF/Z

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

130

THE COMPANY (Continued)

28. AT B AR R 3R (40)

(@) Movements of the reserves (a) EEEH
Fair value
Share  reserve (non-  Accumulated Total
premium recycling) losses reserve
AFEHE
ROEE (FABARH) 2HER mELAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THET THEL THL
At 1 April 2022 R-Z--£MA-H 43,081 237 (44,044) (726)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AFEFEEL2AFELE
loss for the year - - (12,466) (12,466)
At 31 March 2023 R-Z2-=(=A=+-H 43,081 237 (66,510 (13,192)
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FFA—A 43,081 237 (56,510) (13,192)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEBERZHEBEAE
loss for the year - - (5,608) (5,608)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=+-H 43,081 237 (62,118) (18,800)

China Come Ride New Energy Group Limited Annual Report 2023/2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BmRME

Year ended 31 March 2024 #% —ZF —PJF=H=—+—HIFFZ

29. SUBSIDIARIES 29. MtEBAE]
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March ARBR_ZE-_MF=A=+—HH=E
2024 are as follows: ZEWRBARFERBRT :

Proportion of ownership interest

RERAAEHEADL
Particular of
issued and
paid-up
capital/ Group’s
Place and date Place of registered effective Held by Held by
Name of the company of incorporation operation capital interest the Company asubsidiary  Principal activities
BRAIRARE
EX/AMEL AEEH KRF WEAR
GRS EMAUBHNAE EEBH WEEER ERES KAEZEZ BAEzZER  TTEER
Energetic Tree Limited British Virgin Islands  note (i) US$100 100% 100% - Investment holding
ERERREE Mz () 100Xt REZR
Lucky Unicorn Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  note (i) HKS$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
REABRES o) 18T REER
Golden Legend Consortium Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ note (i) US$1,000 100% 100% - Investment holding
ERERRES M) 1,000% 7T REZR
K & K Chartered Architect & Associates Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% o 100%  Provision of comprehensive
Limited architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
BRREBERARAR £ )i 2R T REZAEMBENGEE TR
AR
Global Crown Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100%  Provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
) N 1T REZENBRENERLIR
BRI
Golden Legend Capital Limited Hong Kong Note (i) HK$10,000 100% = 100%  Investment holding
S EERBRAT it M) 10,000 ¢ REER
K &K Chartered Architect & Associates Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100%  Provision of comprehensive
(HK) Limited architectural and structural
engineering consultancy
services
BHRRLER (BB BRAR BE BE 18T REUEZAMBENERIR
Rl
Note: B it -
(i) These companies are investment holding companies which (i) ZERAHARREERAR - W&
have no specific principal place of operation. EREZLEME -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBERE

RESULTS EE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“Z¥-%f ZF--% Z%zZzZ§ CZEZ=F CEBECZQEf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET THET T THx
REVENUE g 29,779 41,246 35,816 45,369 30,674
Cost of services rendered FiT 1 it BR 7% A (35,501) (87,977) (25,511) (38,320) (24,175)
Other income/(losses) A/ (BB 344 2,610 (197) 924 293
General and administrative expenses —BRETHBAX (13,572) (14,663) (9,290) (11,531) (11,078)
Profit/(loss) from operations LeEf/(BR) (18,950) (8,784) 818 (3,558) (4,286)
Finance cost BERK (673) (967) (430) 28) (131)
Share of results of an associate PEBERREE (2,484) (2,943) - - -
Write-off of loan receivables HMEERER (10,159 1,250 - - -
Impairment losses on trade receivables & 5 Y308 i B B 8 = = = (664) (491)

Reversal of impairment losses/ BNEEREBBER/

(impairment losses) on contract assets (& 1) (2,009) (1,714) = (1) 21
Loss on derecognition of subsidiaries & IEERMB LA ZFE 1) - - - -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION &% Aii%F /(& 8) (34,310) (13,158) 388 (4,271) (4,887)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEHES)/ e (24) 17 = (373) 35
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, ERAERTIEBAEE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF w3/ (B8)

THE COMPANY (34,334) (13,141) 388 (4,644) (4,852)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ FREMEE W %/

the year (B18) - - 237 - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ ERAAFEFAELL

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, 2ENE/(BR)BE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY (34,334) (13,141) 625 (4,644) (4,852)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE SR (EE)/BA
Basic and diluted EXREE (8.21) centsfll  (3.14) centsfll  0.08 centsfll (0.94) centsfl (0.98) centsfl
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

“%2-%F ZEF--f% Z%z=C ZEZ=% CZB-QNE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FAT FEL FAT FHL THET

Total assets BEE 32,011 13,197 16,718 16,883 21,247
Total liabilities BafE (21,033) (15,360) (8,210) (13,019) (22,235)
Net assets/(liabilities) EE/(BF)5FE 10,978 (2,169) 8,508 3,864 (988)
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